# FEASIBILITY STUDY OF THE HEALTHY LIFESTYLES PROGRAM

# A PILOT PRAGMATIC RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL OF A 12-MONTH HEALTHY LIFESTYLES PROGRAM

### BY JAPTEG SINGH, MSc, BHSc

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the Requirements for Master of Public Health

McMaster University © Copyright by Japteg Singh, September 2021

McMaster University MASTER OF PUBLIC HEALTH (2021) Hamilton, Ontario

TITLE: A Pilot Pragmatic Randomized Controlled Trial of a 12-Month Healthy Lifestyles Program AUTHOR: Japteg Singh, MSc, BHSc (McMaster University) SUPERVISOR: Dr. Elizabeth Alvarez NUMBER OF PAGES: ix, 82

#### Lay Abstract

Rates of chronic physical and mental health illness are rising in Canada. Lifestyle or behavioural changes can prevent or manage chronic diseases. The aim of this pilot study is to test the feasibility of delivering a 12-month Healthy Lifestyles Program to participants in Hamilton, Canada. The Healthy Lifestyles Program is a complex intervention designed to help participants identify health goals and action plans to achieve those goals with the guidance of healthcare professionals. We observed that the program was successfully delivered, accepted by participants and staff and required minor changes to the study design for a scaled-up study. The program showed positive trends for improving goal attainment, depression, and loneliness scores. The results of this study will help inform the design and scale-up of a larger study.

#### Abstract

**Background:** The primary objective of this study was to assess the feasibility of the Healthy Lifestyles Program (HLP), a novel 12-month complex intervention based in cognitive behavioural therapy and theories of behavioural change, delivered in a community-based setting in Hamilton, Canada. The secondary objective was to explore implementation factors.

**Methods/ design:** A pragmatic pilot randomised controlled trial using quantitative and qualitative evaluation methods. Participants were randomly allocated to either intervention group (n=15) or comparator group (n=15). The intervention group attended weekly group education sessions and met in-person with a healthcare team monthly to create personalized health goals and action plans. The comparator group met with a research assistant every three months to develop health goals and action plans. We assessed feasibility of the program by measuring recruitment, participation and retention rates, missing data, and attendance. All participant-directed and clinical outcome measures were analyzed for between and within group changes using Generalized Estimating Equations (GEE). Content analysis was conducted for qualitative data.

**Results:** We recruited and randomized 30 participants to each group (n=15) within 3 months. Retention rate was 60% (9/15) for the intervention group and 47% (7/15) for the comparator group. Less than 1% of participant-directed and clinical outcomes were missing. Participants attended an average of 29 of 43 educational sessions and 100% of one-to-one sessions. The healthcare team valued the program's holistic approach to care, increased time and interaction with participants, professional collaboration, and the ability to provide counselling and health supports. Location accessibility was an important factor facilitating implementation. Reducing the number of psycho-social education sessions and having access to a gym could improve retention and delivery of the program.

**Conclusion:** This study has demonstrated the feasibility of the HLP with minor modifications recommended for a larger trial and for the intervention.

# **Table of Contents**

BACKGROUND	1
Promotion of Healthy Lifestyles	2
The Healthy Lifestyles Program	3
Purpose of study	3
METHODS	5
Study Design	5
Pragmatic Study	5
Setting	7
Eligibility	7
Recruitment and sampling	8
Randomization, Sequence Generation	9
Intervention Procedures: Intervention group1	0
Intervention Procedures: Comparator group1	1
Data Collection  1    Quantitative Data Collection  1    Qualitative Data Collection  1	. <b>1</b> .1 .2
Primary outcome measures: Feasibility1	2
Implementation factors  1    Reach  1    Effectiveness  1    Adoption  2    Implementation  2	.3 .4 .4 20 21
Data Analysis  2    Quantitative Data Analysis  2    Qualitative Data Analysis  2	2 <b>1</b> 21 22
Ethics	22
<i>RESULTS</i>	2
Primary Objective: Feasibility	22 23 24 25 25
Secondary Objective: Implementation2	:5

Reach	25
Effectiveness	27
Adoption	32
Implementation	35
Discussion	42
Summary of findings and recommendations for future trial	42
Recruitment and representativeness	43
Participation and retention rates	47
Missing data and data collection	50
Attendance	53
Other implementation and intervention considerations	53
Strengths and Limitations	56
Implications for practice	58
Conclusion	58
REFERENCES	60
Appendix A: CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a pilot or feasibility trial <sup>162</sup>	71
Appendix B: Delivered programming of group psycho-education and wellness sessions	73
Appendix C. Timeline of program and evaluation (data collection) components	75
Appendix D: Qualitative Data Collection Tools	76
1. Participant semi-structured exit interview guide (30-60 minutes), 12months	76
2. Staff semi-structured interview guide (30-60 minutes), 6 and 12 months	78
3. Healthcare providers semi-structure interview guide (15-45 minutes), 6 and 12 month	hs 79
4. Families focus group guide, 9 months	81

# List of Figures and Tables

<b>Fig. 1</b> PRECIS-2 wheel for HLP pilot pragmatic trial design. The PRECIS 2 wheel illustrates that the current pilot study design is closer to a pragmatic than explanatory trial
Fig. 2 Consort flow chart
<b>Table 1.</b> Demographic and health characteristics of participants (N=26). Hamilton, Ontario, population data sourced from Statistics Canada and 2015-16 Hamilton data sourced from Public Health Ontario. <sup>51,52</sup>
<b>Table 2.</b> Within-group analysis of outcomes for participants in the intervention group $(n=9)$ andcomparator group $(n=7)$ using GEE. Analysis controls for gender and age
<b>Table 3.</b> Between group analysis for patient-centered outcomes (N=16) using GEE analysis and controlling for age and gender.  30
<b>Table 4.</b> Participant satisfaction, enjoyability and usefulness scores using a 5-point Likert scale.
<b>Table 5.</b> Associations between attendance and outcomes for the intervention group participants (n=9)

# List of Abbreviations

AR	Autoregressive
BMI	Body Mass Index
CBT	Cognitive Behavioural Therapy
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
DBHS	David Braley Health Sciences Centre
DSM-IV4	Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fourth edition
DGJLS	DeJong Gierveld Loneliness Scale
GAD-7	General Anxiety Disorder 7
GEE	Generalized Estimating Equations
HLP	Healthy Lifestyles Program
HUI2	Health Utility Index Mark 2
HUI3	Health Utility Index Mark 3
IC/ES	formally known as the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences
ISI	Insomnia Severity Index
LCIS	Life Change Index Scale
MCID	Minimal Clinically Important Difference
MCS	Mental Component Summary
OHIP	Ontario Health Insurance Plan
PAR-Q+	Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire
PCS	Physical Component Summary
PHQ9	Patient Health Questionnaire 9
PRECIS2	PRagmatic-Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary
PSS	Perceived Stress Scale
RE-AIM	Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation, Maintenance
REDCap	Research Electronic Data Capture
SF	Short Form
TCPS 2: CORE	Tri- Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving
	Humans Course on Research Ethics
WHO	World Health Organization

# Declaration of Academic Achievement

•

Japteg Singh was the primary author of the current paper, assisted with data collection, and led the analysis and interpretation of findings. This project was supervised by Dr. Elizabeth Alvarez, who designed the Healthy Lifestyles Program, provided guidance throughout the study process, and edited this paper. Dr. Rebecca Ganann and Dr. Lawrence Mbuagbaw provided guidance and feedback regarding the structure, analysis, and interpretation of this paper.

# BACKGROUND

An estimated third of Canadian adults live with at least one major chronic disease, while two-thirds of all deaths are attributed to four kinds of chronic diseases: cancer, diabetes, cardiovascular and chronic respiratory diseases.<sup>1,2</sup> The prevalence of modifiable risk factors across Canada is high, with about 80% of Canadian adults (20 years and older) exhibiting one or more modifiable risk factor.<sup>1</sup> These risk factors include: heavy drinking, smoking (daily or occasional), physical inactivity, and low consumption of fruits and vegetables amounting to less than five servings per day. In Ontario, chronic diseases account for about 75% of all deaths and chronic disease management is estimated to be 10.5 billion a year in direct healthcare costs.<sup>3</sup> Specifically, Ontario's annual estimated total direct healthcare costs associated with modifiable risk factors are \$7 billion for tobacco smoking, \$4.5 billion for alcohol consumption, \$3.6 billion for physical inactivity, and \$5.6 billion for unhealthy eating (\$1.8 billion for inadequate vegetable and fruit consumption).<sup>3</sup> Therefore, addressing the emerging epidemic of chronic diseases by addressing behavioural risk factors is crucial to minimize their health and economic burden.

There is a bidirectional link between physical and mental health conditions that adversely affects health outcomes.<sup>4–7</sup> Depression and anxiety are common mental health illnesses associated with the majority of chronic physical conditions.<sup>8,9</sup> Studies show that depression and anxiety are increased among individuals living with a chronic condition such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, inflammatory diseases, etc. <sup>5,10–15</sup> Conversely, observational studies suggest that individuals living with a mental illness, like depression, have a greater likelihood of chronic conditions.<sup>16–20</sup> For example, a review of four qualitative studies revealed that patients with cardiovascular disorders indicated that anxiety and depression were major contributing

factors that inhibited their ability to cope and self-manage their chronic conditions.<sup>21</sup> The ability to self-care and manage one's chronic conditions can be affected by poor mental health outcomes like depression and anxiety.<sup>22</sup> Additionally, mental health is affected by poor lifestyle habits leading to a vicious cycle of worsening physical and mental health, with social implications, such as social isolation, and further worsening of symptoms.<sup>23</sup>

#### Promotion of Healthy Lifestyles

The World Health Organization (WHO) views lifestyles as specific and definable behavioural patterns, which influence health outcomes, but most importantly are modifiable.<sup>24</sup> Therefore, over the past twenty years, the WHO has prioritized the need to address lifestyle factors by promoting healthy lifestyle behaviours and mitigating unhealthy ones. <sup>24</sup> Although there are multiple operational definitions for lifestyle interventions, all definitions share a few key similarities. Broadly, lifestyle interventions include the application of evidence-based practices to help individuals adopt and sustain behavioural changes in diet, exercise, sleep, stress, substance-use, and social supports to prevent, manage and reverse lifestyle-related chronic diseases.<sup>25–27</sup>

Many risk factors for chronic diseases and multimorbidity are behavioural and lifestylerelated.<sup>28</sup> Canadians are more likely to discuss lifestyle behaviours with their primary care provider than populations from other developed countries.<sup>29</sup> However, lifestyle interventions are often designed and applied in controlled research settings, and rarely evaluate process measures, making them difficult to translate to real-world contexts.<sup>30–32</sup> This is because lifestyle or behavioural interventions implemented at the community level are often short-term (less than 6 months), have reduced effect sizes compared to explanatory studies, are under-funded and often lack engagement with stakeholders, limiting their relevance (i.e., contextual and cultural) to the

target population and existing networks.<sup>31,33</sup> Additionally, there is often a gap in knowledge regarding how to make and sustain lifestyle changes, especially in real life settings.<sup>32</sup> In a review of qualitative studies examining the barriers and facilitators to implementing lifestyle interventions to prevent cardiometabolic disease, commonly cited professional barriers by primary care physicians included the lack counselling skills, education, knowledge and experience to address lifestyle changes.<sup>34</sup> Other cited barriers were structural (e.g., time restraints, lack of awareness of existing guidelines, lack of evidence and/or guidelines on prevention, or too many guidelines for a specific purpose), organizational (e.g., communication barriers among health teams, lack of support), patient related factors (e.g., low adherence), and attitudinal (e.g., negative attitudes towards prevention interventions).<sup>34</sup>

#### The Healthy Lifestyles Program

The Healthy Lifestyles Program (HLP) is a holistic, person-centred behavioural change intervention that targets self-identified lifestyle goals to improve health outcomes through a combination of individual and group modalities. It is a program aimed at enhancing physical activity, social participation, and nutrition while addressing mental health in a manner that can be integrated into the individual's lifestyle and personal preferences, in contrast to strategies that assume a 'one-size-fits-all' approach. This program was developed from principles in Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) and theories of health behaviour, and the study protocol has been published.<sup>35</sup> The HLP intervention consists of collaborative-goal setting and action-planning with a healthcare team and weekly group educational sessions in addition to usual care. The comparator group consists of usual care and participant directed goal development and action-planning with a research assistant trained in theories of health behaviour.

#### Purpose of study

This study aimed to determine the feasibility of a 12-month pragmatic, pilot randomized controlled trial of the novel HLP delivered in a community setting for participants in Hamilton, Canada. The study findings provide a basis to inform planning and scale-up of a larger, definitive trial. Therefore, the primary objectives and hypothesis were related to protocol feasibility and determining the recruitment of participants to the study, retention rates of participants to the intervention and comparator groups over 12-months, group and individual session attendance, and missing data. The intervention was considered feasible if we recruited 30 participants, had a retention rate that was equivalent or greater than other 12-month lifestyle or behavioural change trials (30-78%)<sup>36</sup> or 50% for this pilot, missing data rate of less than 5%, and attendance to intervention components greater than 50%. The secondary objectives were to assess the implementation of the HLP from the perspective of participants, interventionists, participants' primary healthcare providers and family members using the Reach, Effectiveness, Adoption, Implementation and Maintenance (RE-AIM) framework.<sup>37</sup> The potential effectiveness of the intervention was assessed by measuring the change in participant-centered outcomes at 12months and in relation to the comparator group. These include goal attainment scores, mental health (i.e., depression, stress, and loneliness), health-related quality of life, and anthropometric measures (i.e., blood pressure, height, weight, Body Mass Index (BMI), waist circumference, waist to hip ratio). We hypothesized that the intervention would show potential improvements to goal attainment scores and mental health outcomes. Description of outcomes and statistical analyses are described at length in the methods section.

# **METHODS**

#### Study Design

This study is a pragmatic parallel group pilot randomized controlled trial (RCT) and we follow the Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) 2010 reporting guidelines for pilot and feasibility studies (see Appendix A)<sup>38</sup>. The Healthy Lifestyles Program (HLP) was developed by clinical researchers from McMaster University (Hamilton), as a community-based, person-centred lifestyle intervention consisting of the following key components: participant-centred goal development, development of individualized action plans, barrier and facilitator identification to goal attainment, and psycho-educational sessions regarding lifestyle behaviour.<sup>3</sup> Qualitative data from participants, interventionists, family members and healthcare providers was collected to evaluate the HLP. Thisit provided the opportunity for participants to have a voice and share their experiences across the research process, and it facilitated the opportunity to collect various types of data to enrich conclusions resulting in a deeper understanding of the program and its implementation to inform scale-up.

#### Pragmatic Study

The PRagmatic-Explanatory Continuum Indicator Summary (PRECIS2) was used to assess the degree at which the study was either pragmatic or explanatory.<sup>39–41</sup> Domains included eligibility, recruitment, setting, organization, flexibility of intervention delivery, flexibility of participant adherence, follow-up, primary outcome, and primary analysis. PRECIS2 is an accepted tool for evaluating trial designs on the pragmatic-explanatory continuum. <sup>39–41</sup> Each domain was evaluated on a one to five Likert scale with five being most pragmatic and one being most explanatory. The Principal Investigator and three research assistants rated each domain independently and then discussed any discrepancies until a consensus was reached.

The HLP design was assessed to be slightly more pragmatic than explanatory. Figure 1 illustrates the study design based on the nine criteria of PRECIS2. 1) The eligibility criteria would allow for a broadly representative population. However, those who do not speak English were excluded. 2) Patients were recruited in primary care settings as well as through advertisements like Coffee News, a freely circulated paper-based local publication. 3) The trial was conducted in a community-based academic setting. 4) While a primary care physician trained in CBT led the intervention team, any healthcare provider familiar with the principles of cognitive behaviour therapy and health behaviour, regardless of their background, would be able to develop goals, action plans and conduct education sessions. However, specialized providers including a dietician and musculoskeletal specialist were part of the trial resulting in organization that favours a more explanatory design. 5) Delivery of the one-to-one sessions were standardized, however, there was some flexibility in the delivery of group session content to meet the needs of participants. 6) Regarding adherence flexibility, participants had the choice to attend as few or as many group sessions as they could. 7) Participants enrolled in the intervention group were followed with more frequent visits and participants in both groups had more extensive data collection than would occur during usual care routines. 8) The outcome of goal attainment is assessed as pragmatic because goals are co-developed by both interventionists and participants and therefore have obvious meaning and significance from the participant's and interventionist's perspective. Although the goal attainment is scored on a standardized scale, goals can vary and be tailored to meet the participant's objectives and needs. For example, goals included improving healthy eating, physical activity, socialization, stress management, etc. 9) Primary analysis of data occurred using per protocol principle to explore the intervention effect when participants were fully compliant to the intervention.





#### Setting

This study was conducted at McMaster University's David Braley Health Sciences Centre (DBHS), which is centrally located in Hamilton, Ontario (Canada), during April 2018 to April 2019. This site was chosen because of its accessibility including assistive technology ensuring access for people with physical challenges (e.g., elevator access, accessible washrooms), onsite parking, and close walking proximity to public transit. Individual meetings between participants and interventionists and participant data collection occurred in closed office space settings to ensure privacy. Group psycho-educational sessions were delivered in classroom settings.

#### Eligibility

Study inclusion criteria included adults 18 years of age or older and able to speak English at a proficient level. For participants, the inclusion criteria ensured there were no language barriers to actively engage with the program, as it was delivered in English. There were no other exclusion criteria at the outset. However, an exclusion criterion was added during the recruitment phase if individuals were assessed to have an unstable and untreated health condition during the informed consent process.

#### Recruitment and sampling

Study participants (N=30) were recruited through print and digital advertising. Recruitment posters were placed in three primary care clinics in Hamilton and in community centres, coffee shops and office buildings across Hamilton, Ontario. Paid advertisements were posted in Hamilton's local community newsletter, Coffee News, which is distributed to local stores, restaurants and coffee shops and is freely available to the public. Finally, recruitment was advertised through Twitter, a social media platform. Participants were recruited using nonprobability convenience sampling that included a combination of volunteer and snowball sampling (i.e., participants could refer other participants to the program). Although nonprobability sampling can introduce self-selection bias, it was the most cost-effective and feasible method of sampling participants for this pilot study. More importantly, as a personcentred behavioural change intervention, as with any successful behaviour change program, a certain level of motivation is required to participate. Due to the pilot nature of this study, no formal sample size calculations were done. The sample size of N=30 was chosen based on resources and is considered conventional for pilot studies as it permits the collection of sufficient data while minimizing research costs.<sup>42</sup> Additionally, studies suggest that small group sizes ( $\leq 15$ participants per group) are ideal when delivering health-related, behavioural change interventions for illness prevention and self-management programs.<sup>43</sup>

All healthcare providers in the intervention arm (family physician, dietician and musculoskeletal specialist) and the research assistant delivering the comparator group (henceforth, interventionists unless otherwise specified) (N=4), and participants' primary

healthcare providers outside of the HLP (henceforth, healthcare providers) (N=17) were invited to participate in semi-structured interviews at 6 and 12 months to explore their perspectives regarding the implementation of the HLP or the comparator intervention. All 17 participant's healthcare providers (10 from the intervention group and 7 from the comparator intervention) were invited to participate in a semi-structured interview by a faxed letter and then contacted by telephone. Healthcare providers who agreed to participate were included in the study. All HLP participants were asked if they had family members who would be interested in participating in focus groups. Participants identified family members who were then invited by the research assistant to participate in focus groups at 9 months to explore their perspectives of the HLP. Agreeing participants were then provided with information and consent forms for their family members to complete and return to the research team. Only family members who provided consent were contacted.

#### Randomization, Sequence Generation

Participants were randomly allocated to either the intervention or comparator group by a research assistant who had not previously met any of the participants and was not involved in recruitment or program delivery. Each participant was provided with a 6-digit identification number using the RAND function in Microsoft Excel and then randomly allocated to either group in a one-to-one ratio. The research assistant made exceptions to this randomization procedure if two or more participants knew each other prior to program enrollment (participants were asked if they knew anyone else who was participating in the study after informed consent was obtained and prior to randomization), in which case they were allocated in the same group based on the allocation of the participant with the lowest 6-digit identification number. This was to minimize the likelihood of cross-contamination between study groups. The research assistant

then notified participants of their allocation and 6-digit identification numbers were used to blind collection and the analysis process.

#### Intervention Procedures: Intervention group

Intervention group participants (n=15) met individually with the intervention team to develop and update their personalized healthcare goals and action plans, identify potential facilitators and barriers to their goals, and discuss various health behaviour strategies specific to their needs. These individual sessions occurred on a monthly basis. Interventionists consisted of a family physician trained in CBT, a dietician, an orthopedic surgeon, and physiotherapy students. The program was designed to allow interventionists to regularly meet and discuss or debrief on each participant's diagnoses, treatment, healthcare goals and action plans. These sessions generally occurred on a monthly basis once each participant completed their one-to-one sessions. Physiotherapy students were only involved in the intervention group's initial individual sessions to determine their potential role in the program. Participants were otherwise encouraged to continue with their usual care as recommended by their family physician and healthcare specialists.

Additionally, intervention participants were invited to attend weekly one-hour group psycho-educational health and wellness learning sessions facilitated by the family physician trained in CBT (i.e., interventionist). These psycho-educational group sessions consisted of didactic learning, workshop presentations and open discussions regarding a variety of topics related to health behaviour theories and cognitive behaviour therapy to promote lifestyle changes (see appendix B for a list of topics). These sessions were designed to provide a space for social interaction whereby participants gained a level of peer-support.<sup>35</sup> In total, 50 weekly sessions were the

needs of participants. However, attendance in these sessions was not mandatory, allowing participants the flexibility to attend as many sessions as they would like as would happen in realworld settings. After completing the program, participants took part in a group graduation ceremony and received a certificate of completion.

#### Intervention Procedures: Comparator group

In the comparator group, participants met with a research assistant once every three months for approximately one hour. The research assistant was trained in health behaviour theories by taking a graduate course at McMaster University. Similar to the intervention group, participants in the comparator group met individually with the research assistant to develop and update their personalized healthcare goals and action plans, identify potential facilitators and barriers to their goals, and discuss various health behaviour strategies specific to their needs. These sessions were provided in person with the option to meet by phone to accommodate scheduling conflicts. Participants were encouraged to continue their usual care as recommended by their family physician and healthcare specialists. There were no group psycho-educational health and wellness sessions offered to participants in the comparator group. All participants received a certificate on completion of the program but there was no group graduate ceremony.

#### Data Collection

Data collection occurred between January 2018 to May 2019.

#### Quantitative Data Collection

Participant data collection occurred at baseline and subsequently at every 3-month interval for 12 months totaling five collection time-points. See appendix C for a summary of measures and timeline of data collection. Demographic information, lifestyle factors (smoking and alcohol use) and Physical Activity Readiness Questionnaire (PAR-Q+) were collected only at baseline for screening and assessment purposes. Interventionists had access to all participant data at baseline to inform appropriate goals, specifically, the PAR-Q+ information helped interventionists develop appropriate goals related to physical activity in alignment with participants' health status. Quantitative data were collected using the Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap) tool, a secure research database. Participants used tablets to answer surveys and questionnaires that directly stored their data onto REDCap. Goal and anthropometric measures were collected in-person and entered into REDCap by research assistants. Feasibility measures including recruitment, participation and retention rates, missing data, and attendance rates for program was collected by the interventionists and recorded in Excel and REDCap.

#### Qualitative Data Collection

Qualitative data were collected using semi-structured interviews with participants from both groups at 12-months, and with interventionists and healthcare providers at 6 and 12-months. Qualitative data were also collected from family members of participants using focus groups at 9-months. All interviews were conducted by research assistants not involved with program delivery using a semi-structured interview guide (see appendix D). The interview guides consisted of open-ended questions with probes to direct the interview while allowing participants to speak freely about the HLP and for facilitators to ask additional follow-up questions. All interviews were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim, and notes were taken during the interviews. Interviews occurred in closed office or classroom settings to ensure privacy, either at David Braley Health Sciences Centre, McMaster University, or at the healthcare provider's clinic in Hamilton, Canada.

#### Primary outcome measures: Feasibility

The first objective was to assess the feasibility of the HLP intervention. It was measured as recruitment, participation and retention rates, missing data, and attendance rates for program components. Participation rate was operationally defined as the percent of participants who commenced the program after allocation, and retention rates as the percent of participants who completed the program at 12-months after allocation.

#### Implementation factors

The second objective was to evaluate the implementation factors relating to the HLP using the RE-AIM framework.<sup>44,45</sup> This evaluation-implementation hybrid framework was designed to translate evidence into practice, especially in the context of scaling pragmatic studies carried out in real world, complex settings.<sup>46</sup> The RE-AIM framework has an unique focus on internal and external validity, including process measures designed to capture intervention context, setting, and various implementation factors.<sup>46,47</sup> The RE-AIM framework has been frequently applied in public health and health behaviour change research with over 2,800 citations, illustrating its applicability across different study populations, settings, and health conditions.<sup>46,47</sup> It is useful to determine the impact of a health intervention at the individual and setting level, helping program planners and evaluators systematically focus on identifying contextual and setting factors that may have implications on program delivery in pragmatic settings.<sup>4849</sup>

There are five domains to the RE-AIM framework that are monitored and evaluated, this includes the reach (R) of the intervention to the target population and representativeness of the target population; the effectiveness (E) of the intervention to induce change in relevant outcomes; the adoption (A) of the intervention by those responsible for implementing the intervention; the implementation (I) factors during the delivery of the intervention including

consistency, cost, and adaptations and; the maintenance (M) of the intervention or sustainability of the intervention including the impact and factors related to the ability to incorporate into routine practice.<sup>50</sup>

#### Reach

Reach was assessed by descriptively analyzing participant baseline demographic characteristics and self-reported prevalence of modifiable risk behaviours, chronic diseases and multimorbidity. Demographic characteristics included age, marital status, educational level, employment status, and household income. Modifiable risk behaviours included tobacco use, recreational drug use, problematic alcohol consumption, low physical activity, overweight and obese. According to Public Health Ontario<sup>51</sup>, problematic alcohol consumption was defined as more than two drinks per sitting for females or three or more drinks per sitting for males. Low physical activity was defined by Public Health Ontario as less than 150 minutes of activity per week.<sup>51</sup> Overweight was defined as a Body Mass Index (BMI) of 25-30 and obese was defined as a BMI of 30 or higher. <sup>51</sup> Multimorbidity was defined as two or more self-reported chronic conditions. Reach outcomes were compared descriptively to Hamilton, Canada, census data<sup>52</sup> and Public Health Ontario's<sup>51</sup> health data to assess representativeness.

#### Effectiveness

Effectiveness was assessed by analyzing the following outcomes for both the intervention and comparator groups and was collected at baseline, 3, 6, 9 and 12 months:

*Mean number of goals* was a descriptive measure of the average number of goals each participant was actively working towards addressing.

*Goal Attainment* (GA) scores were measured by participants indicating their level of attainment on a 7-point Likert scale, with 1 representing the 'worst case', 7 representing the 'best

case', and 4 representing somewhere in the middle. Each scale was personalized and developed based on the participant's baseline for that goal, ability, motivation, and purpose for the goal following a method developed for this program. Mean GA was calculated exclusively from goals created at baseline and sustained through to the 12-month period. It was decided a priori to analyze data per protocol analysis, therefore, goals developed after baseline or dropped prior to completing the 12-month study were excluded from the mean goal attainment analysis. <sup>35</sup> This ensures that the variation of time spent on goals and time enrolled in the study is controlled when calculating the mean GA scores for each timepoint. <sup>53</sup> There is no published minimal clinically important difference (MCID) for GA scores, however, we decided a priori that a change of 1 point was clinically important as each scale measured behaviours that were participant-relevant and each point was defined. <sup>35</sup>

*Anthropometric data* included participant's BMI, systolic blood pressure, diastolic blood pressure, waist circumference, hip circumference, and waist-hip ratio. The MCID for BMI is a 5 to 10% reduction from baseline<sup>54</sup> and for blood pressure is a 2mmHg reduction.<sup>55</sup> There are no published minimal clinically important differences for waist circumference, hip circumference, and waist-hip ratio.

#### Mental health and health-related quality of life scales

*Depression* was measured through the use of the Patient Health Questionaire-9 (PHQ-9), a validated 9-item questionnaire screening tool in the general population setting.<sup>56</sup> PHQ-9 assesses depression severity as a continuous measure that is translated to categorical diagnostic groups, whereby threshold scores of 5, 10, 15, and 20 correlate with mild, moderate, moderately severe, and severe depression, respectively.<sup>57,58</sup> Depression scores greater than 10 (moderate depression) have a sensitivity of 0.80 (95% CI 0.71–0.87) and a specificity of 0.92 (95% CI

0.88–0.95). <sup>59</sup> The positive likelihood ratio is 10.12 (95% CI 6.52–15.67) and the negative likelihood ratio is 0.22 (0.15 to 0.32).<sup>59</sup> The minimal clinically important difference for PHQ-9 is a 5-point change.<sup>60,61</sup>

*Anxiety* was measured through the General Anxiety Disorder 7-item scale (GAD-7), a validated tool for screening and measuring severity of anxiety in clinical and research practices. <sup>62</sup> The GAD-7 measures anxiety using seven items that are scored from zero to three, the entire scale ranges from 0 to 21. The cut-offs for mild, moderate and severe anxiety are 5, 10, and 15 respectively. <sup>62</sup> At the cut-off score of 10, both sensitivity and specificity have been shown to be greater than 0.8 and self-reported versions of the scale have been shown to be reliable compared to interviewer-administered versions. <sup>62</sup> However, GAD-7 scores were excluded from the analysis due to implementation limitations described in the discussion section.

Insomnia was measured with the Insomnia Severity Index (ISI), a 7-item self-reported questionnaire assessing participants' perceptions regarding the nature, severity, and impact of insomnia in the past month. The ISI is a brief and validated instrument that measures insomnia according to criteria from the International Classification of Sleep Disorders and the DSM-IV. <sup>63,64</sup> ISI is a continuous measure that translates to categorical diagnostic groups whereby scores from 0-7 represent no clinically significant insomnia, scores of 8-14 represent the subthreshold for insomnia, scores of 15-21 represent moderately severe clinical insomnia, and scores of 22-28 are classified as severe clinical insomnia. <sup>65</sup> The MCID for ISI has been reported to be a 6-point reduction in score, which is associated with a lower likelihood of the participant reporting being *worn out* or *fatigued*. <sup>66</sup> Morin et al. reported that a change in ISI score of  $\geq$ 8 corresponded with a clinical rating of *moderate* improvement in patients receiving treatment for insomnia, and a change of  $\geq$ 9 corresponded with *marked* clinical improvement.<sup>65</sup> However, Vitiello et al.

documented that a  $\geq$  30% of the original baseline ISI score was clinically significant in their cognitive behavioural study.<sup>67</sup>

Stress was measured using the Life Change Index Scale (LCIS) and Perceived Stress Scale (PSS). The LCIS, also known as the Holmes and Rahe stress scale, measured cumulative weighted points based on life events. It has been shown that higher scores are associated with increased medical utilization in primary care settings.<sup>68</sup> The LCIS is a validated measure of life events or stressors which are ranked and correlated to the probability of developing a stress related illness.<sup>69</sup> Although this scale was originally developed using medical records of 5000 male patients in the Unites States in 1967, it was later assessed for cross-cultural validity against African and Mexican populations in the United States as well as populations from Denmark, Sweden, Japan and Malaysia.<sup>70–73</sup> This scale has been shown to be consistent amongst populations despite differences in age, gender, race, religion, cultures and patient populations (vs. general population).<sup>69</sup> The scale lists 43 common stressful life events. Scores less than 150 indicate a low level of stress and a low likelihood of developing a stress related illness (i.e., 30% chance of illness). Scores ranging from 150 to 299 are associated with a moderate or 50% risk of developing a stress related illness. Scores greater than 300 are associated with a high risk or an 80% chance of developing stress related illness in the next two years. The Perceived Stress Scale (PSS) is a self-reported tool used to measure the degree to which participants perceived their level of psychological stress. <sup>74</sup> The PSS assesses stress through items that are perceived as being generally unpredictable, uncontrollable, and overloading during the previous month rather than measuring stress through specific life events and/or experiences as observed with the life change index scale.<sup>75</sup> The 10-item (PSS-10) scale was used rather than the original 14-item scale because it is shorter and easier to administer with psychometric properties evaluated to

have superior test-retest reliability and validity than the 14-item scale. The PSS 4-item scale is recognized as the least effective tool; however, it is the most feasible and useful tool where short questionnaires are preferred. It was included in the study to explore its feasibility against the PSS-10 for a larger definitive trial.<sup>74</sup>

Health related quality of life was measured using the RAND Short Form 36 (SF-36) and the Health Utility Index Mark 2 (HUI2) and Health Utility Index Mark 3 (HUI3) in order to determine which instrument would be most responsive or relevant for a larger trial. The SF-36 is a validated instrument created from the Medical Outcomes Study, a four-year longitudinal study that incorporated patient's point of view to assess healthcare outcomes.<sup>76</sup> The SF-36 measures eight domains related to quality of life: physical functioning, role limitations due to physical health, role limitations due to emotional problems, energy/fatigue, emotional well-being, social functioning, pain, and general health. The SF-36 has been shown to be reliable across many medical conditions including pulmonary, cardiac, endocrine, renal, and orthopedic disorders.<sup>76</sup> Scoring for each SF-36 domain is weighted and transformed into a scale from 0, representing the worst possible health/ severe disability, to 100, representing the best possible health/ no disability. The scores from the eight domains are aggregated to provide a Physical Component Summary (PCS) score and a Mental Component Summary (MCS) score. As described by Ware and Kosinski, the component scores are reported and analyzed in addition to the domain scores in order to make conclusions. <sup>77</sup> The MCID for the SF-36 is 2-points for PCS, 3-points for MCS and 2 to 4-points for each domain. <sup>78,79</sup>

HUI2 and HUI3 are validated tools used to measure health status and health-related quality of life. <sup>80</sup> In the HUI2, health-related quality of life is characterized by six attributes: sensation (vision, hearing, and speech), mobility, emotion, cognition, self-care, and pain. The

overall utility scores for HUI2 ranges from -0.03 to 1.0, with -0.03 representing a health state worse than death, 0.0 representing death, and 1.0 representing perfect health. <sup>80</sup> In HUI3, health-related quality of life is characterized by eight attributes: vision, hearing, speech, ambulation, dexterity, emotion, cognition, and pain. The overall utility scores for HUI3 ranges from -0.36 to 1.0, where -.36 represents a health state worse than death, 0.0 representing death, and 1.0 representing perfect health. <sup>80</sup> When analyzing health utility scores, it is recommended to use both the overall summary scores as well as the single-attribute utility scores. The multi-attribute health utility scores provide a single aggregate measure to capture health-related quality life, and the single-attribute scores provide supplementary information to help identify attributes causing poor health-related quality of life. <sup>80</sup> The MCID for HUI2 and HUI3's multi-attribute scores are 0.03 and for the single attribute scores are 0.05. <sup>81</sup>

*Loneliness* is a subjective indicator of social well-being, however, despite its social context, it is a measure of distress from feeling alone or separated. Studies have shown a link between loneliness and health outcomes including mortality and morbidity. <sup>82</sup> Furthermore, loneliness has been linked to personality disorders, psychoses, suicide, impaired cognitive performance, cognitive decline, Alzheimer's, depression, perceived stress, anxiety, and diminished optimism and self-esteem. <sup>82</sup> Loneliness was measured using the DeJong Gierveld Loneliness Scale (DJGLS) short form, a 6-item questionnaire that contains two subscales, three items are indicators for social loneliness and three items are indicators for emotional loneliness. <sup>83</sup> The total loneliness scale ranges from 0, not lonely, to 6, extremely lonely. Emotional loneliness scores range from 0, not emotionally lonely, to 3, intensely emotionally lonely. Similarly, the social loneliness score ranges from 0, not socially lonely, to 3, intensely socially lonely. The DJGLS has been shown to be valid and reliable as a measure of loneliness among older adults,

especially within Canadian populations (Cronbach's alpha was 0.64 to 0.74). <sup>84</sup> The response options for each item of the DJLS includes 'Yes', 'More or less', and 'No', and is scored dichotomously assigning a value of 1 to the neutral and positive responses for the three negatively worded items. Subsequently, a value of 1 is assigned to the neutral and negative responses for the three positively worded items. However, we modified the scoring of responses to maximize the scale's sensitivity to measure change by assigning a value of 2 to 'Yes', 1 to 'More or less' and 0 to 'No' for the positively worded items, and a value of 2 to 'No', 1 to 'More or less' and 0 to 'Yes' for the negatively worded items, changing the total scoring system from 6 to a 12-point scale <sup>85</sup> There are no published minimally important clinical differences for the DJGLS.

*Satisfaction, enjoyability* and *usefulness of the interventions* were measured at 3, 6, and 9months using 5-point Likert questions. These outcomes were measured for continuous quality improvement purposes and 9-month scores were analyzed to assess overall participant satisfaction, enjoyability and usefulness. Participants in both groups were asked to rate their level of satisfaction, enjoyability and usefulness of the program from very satisfied/enjoyable/useful (5), somewhat satisfied /enjoyable/useful (4), neutral (3), Not very satisfied /enjoyable/useful (2), and not at all satisfied /enjoyable/useful (1). In addition, qualitative, semi-structured interviews were conducted with participants at 12-months to provide context regarding any quantitative findings regarding satisfaction, enjoyability and usefulness.

A costs and medical utilization log was provided to participants to self-report their direct costs and medical utilization every three months at the 3, 6, 9, and 12-month data collection periods. The costs and medical utilization log can be provided by request.

Adoption

Adoption outcomes were assessed using qualitative data collected from semi-structured interviews at 6 and 12 months with interventionists and healthcare providers to understand why they would participate in the delivery of or refer patients to the HLP.

#### Implementation

Implementation factors relating to the HLP were assessed using qualitative data collected from participants, family members and interventionists to explore their perspectives of components of the program that were implemented as planned, worked well or could be improved.

#### Data Analysis

#### Quantitative Data Analysis

Demographic and feasibility outcomes were analyzed descriptively and reported as counts or percentages when appropriate. To analyze changes in outcomes, generalized estimating equations (GEE) were used to estimate the average treatment effects within and between groups for each outcome. The purpose of the within-group analysis was to explore outcome trends over time. Therefore, GEE analyses were used that incorporated data from all 5 time-points of the study (baseline, 3, 6, 9,12-months) to estimate the change over time within either the intervention or comparison group. For the between group analyses, the purpose was to explore differences between groups at the 12-month period. Therefore, this GEE analysis used the difference between baseline and 12-month responses to control for baseline variation in the outcome data. Additionally, a GEE analysis was used to analyze the correlation between attendance to group sessions in the intervention group and participant-centered outcomes. With the exception of the attendance and outcome analysis, all other GEE analysis controlled for gender and age, which was decided a priori. <sup>35</sup> Other covariates were excluded from the analysis due to the exploratory

nature of this pilot study and its small sample size. The identity link function was used for all outcomes, and the autoregressive correlation structure was used because it accounts for the longitudinal design where measurements closer in time are more closely correlated than those further apart. A p value of less than 0.05 was considered statistically significant. All quantitative data were analyzed using SPSSv27.

#### Qualitative Data Analysis

All interviews were audio recorded then transcribed verbatim and entered into NVivo12. Transcripts and notes were initially read in full to gain an overall understanding of the data. Transcripts and notes were coded line by line and the coded segments were grouped into common concepts and themes guided by the RE-AIM framework. Themes were developed using inductive thematic analysis with a realist approach to interpreting the data.<sup>86,87</sup> Data analysis occurred through a multi-stage process where the author became familiarized himself with the data, generated initial codes, confirmed codes with the Principal Investigator, developed themes, discussed and confirmed themes with the Principal Investigator , and then conducted the write up of the analysis.<sup>87</sup> Any discrepancies or clarifications were discussed until a consensus was reached. Qualitative data were used to enrich quantitative findings, to understand implementation factors, and enhance future iterations of the HLP.

#### Ethics

This study was approved by the Hamilton Integrated Research Ethics Board (HiREB; #3793) and registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (identifier: NCT03258138).

#### RESULTS

#### Primary Objective: Feasibility

#### Recruitment

Recruitment began January 2018 and ended March 2018. Figure 2 illustrates the CONSORT diagram for participant flow through the study. Of the 72 individuals who contacted the program, 31 attended an information session and signed consent to participate. During the consent process, one participant was excluded from the study because of untreated and unstable mental health issues disclosed to the Principal Investigator during the informed consent process. This was not an explicit exclusion criterion at the time, but was necessary due to potential for adverse outcomes to the group. As randomization had not yet occurred, one additional participant was recruited to meet the sample size of 30. Therefore, 97% (30/31) of participants invited to the study were eligible for enrollment.

Participant feedback surveys at three months follow-up (N=16) collected data on recruitment sources (i.e., *how did you find out about the healthy lifestyles program? list up to three*) and reasons for enrollment (i.e., *what made you want to join the program?*). Sources of recruitment were from local newsletter advertisements (n=8, 42%), word of mouth (n=6, 32%), and posters (n=5, 26%). Reasons for participant enrollment included seeking support to improve general health or lifestyle (n=12, 63%), physical health or weight loss (n=6, 32%), nutrition or healthy eating (n=2, 11%), mental health (n=1, 5%), and pain management (n=1, 5%).



### Fig. 2 Consort flow chart.

Participation and retention rates

The HLP began in April 2018 and ended in April 2019. The study participation rate was 73% (22/30), participation rates were even between the intervention (11/15) and comparator

(11/15) groups, see figure 2. The overall study retention rate after 12-months was 53% (16/30); 60% (9/15) for the intervention group and 47% (7/15) for the comparator group. There were no moderate to severe adverse events related to the study.

#### Missing data

Less than 1% of the self-reported mental health and anthropometric data were missing for participants who completed the study after 12-months. There were no missing data for goal attainment scores. Costs and medical utilization logs were piloted and missing data among the intervention participants were 31% and 60% for the comparator participants. GAD-7 (anxiety) data were consistently collected as a result of technical settings in REDcap.

#### Attendance to program components

For participants who completed the study, there was 100% attendance to the individualized portions of the program in both the intervention and comparator groups. Over 50 weeks, 43 educational sessions were delivered to participants in the intervention group. Participants in the intervention group who completed the study (n=9) attended an average of 29 (SD=7.5) weekly sessions and the range was from 15 to 38 sessions. The overall average number of participants per session was 6 (SD= 1.8). Average attendance decreased over time; attendance rate was the highest in the first three months with an average of 84% and lowest in the last three months of the program with an average of 43%.

#### Secondary Objective: Implementation

#### Reach

Table 1 summarizes baseline characteristics of participants. Four participants in the comparator group dropped out of the program after allocation and prior to collecting demographic data. Baseline data was collected after randomization at the beginning of the
program to avoid overburdening the information, consent and intake process for participants.

There were no statistically significant differences in demographic characteristics between

participants randomized to the intervention and comparator groups. In comparison to the 2016

Hamilton census data, the program recruited a study sample of participants who were older,

predominately women, more highly educated and less likely to work either full-time or part-time.

Participants exhibited greater prevalence of modifiable risk factors and chronic diseases than

observed in the general adult population of Hamilton, Ontario.

**Table 1.** Demographic and health characteristics of participants (N=26). Hamilton, Ontario, population data sourced from Statistics Canada and 2015-16 Hamilton data sourced from Public Health Ontario.<sup>51,52</sup>

	All participants	Intervention	Comparator*	Hamilton
				Population
Total n (%)	26 (100)	15 (57)	11 (43)	536,917
Mean age in years (SD)	54.31 (12.93)	57.87 (11.72)	49.45 (13.45)	41.3
Gender, n (%)				
Female	21(80.7)	12 (80)	9 (81)	(54.5)
Male	5 (19.3)	3 (20)	2 (19)	(45.5)
Marital Status, n (%)				
Common Law	3 (11.5)	1 (7)	2 (19)	(8.5)
Divorced	4 (15.5)	2 (13)	2 (19)	(6.4)
Married	10 (38.5)	7 (47)	3 (25)	(46.4)
Other Partner	3 (11.5)	1 (7)	2 (19)	NA
Single	3 (11.5)	2 (13)	1 (9)	(32.4)
Widowed	3 (11.5)	2 (13)	1 (9)	(6.2)
Education level, n (%)				
< High School	1 (4)	0	1 (9)	(17.8)
High School	2 (8)	2 (13)	0	(27.8)
College	15 (58)	8 (53)	7 (63)	(22.8)
Bachelor's	5 (19.5)	4 (27)	1 (9)	(15.5)
Master's	3 (11.5)	1 (7)	2 (19)	(4.4)
Employment status, n (%)				
Full-time or part-time	12 (46)	6 (40)	6 (56)	(60.2)
Disability or sick leave	5 (19.5)	3 (20)	2 (19)	NA
Retired	8 (30.5)	5 (30)	3 (25)	NA
Other	1 (2)	1 (7)		NA
Household Income, n (%)				
<\$20,000	3 (11.5)	1 (7)	2 (19)	(8.4)
\$20,000 to 50,000	8 (30.5)	5 (30)	3 (25)	(23.6)
\$50,001 to 80,000	5 (19.5)	3 (20)	2 (19)	(20.8)
\$80,001 to 120, 000	5 (19.5)	2 (13)	3 (25)	(22.3)
>\$120,000	4 (15.5)	4 (27)	0	(24.9)
Refused	1 (4)	0	1 (9)	NA
				% (95%CI)
Modifiable Risk Behaviours, n (%)				

Current Tobacco User	2 (8)	0	2 (19)	15.3 (12.2-18.4)
Recreational Drug Use	5 (19)	1 (7)	4 (36)	0.09 (0.08-0.099)
Problematic Alcohol Consumption**	8 (31)	6 (40)	2 (19)	19.9 (16.6-23.2)
Low Physical Activity***	15 (52)	9 (60)	6 (56)	22.4 (18.4-26.4)
Overweight <sup>+</sup>	7 (27)	2 (13)	5 (45)	21.2 (16.9-25.6)
Obese <sup>+</sup>	17 (65)	11(73)	6 (56)	34.1 (29.7-38.5)
Chronic Diseases, n (%)				
Anxiety	13 (50)	5 (33)	8 (73)	11 (8.3-13.7)
Diabetes Type 2	3 (11.5)	2 (13)	1 (9)	7.1 (5.1-9.1)
Heart disease	0	0	0	4.5 (3.0-6.1)
High blood pressure	6 (23)	4 (27)	2 (19)	20.5 (17.7 – 23.2)
Stroke	1 (4)	0	1 (9)	1.0 (0.3-1.6)
Multimorbidity, n (%)	21 (80.7)	12 (80)	9 (81.8)	24.3

SD = Standard Deviation, NA= Not Available, CI= Confidence Interval Percentages may not add up to 100% due to rounding

\*Missing data (N=4) in comparator group as loss to follow-up before baseline data collection

\*\* Defined as more than 2 drinks per sitting for females or 3 drinks per sitting for males

\*\*\* Defined as below the recommended level of 150 minutes of physical activity per week

#### Effectiveness

#### *Within-group analyses*

A GEE analysis was conducted to identify changes in outcomes within each group over the 12-month study period and controlling for age and gender. The results of the within-group analysis are summarized in table 2 for participants in both the intervention (n=9) and comparator (n=7) groups. Among participants in the intervention group, there were statistically significant improvements in mean scores for insomnia, depression, stress (in both the 4 and 10 item scales), loneliness, number of active goals, goal attainment, and health-related quality of life indicators in the RAND SF-36 for pain, general health and physical composite scores over 12-months. Additionally, there was a small but significant decrease in waist to hip ratio over 12-months. Among participants in the comparator group, there were small but statistically significant improvements in mean scores for insomnia, perceived stress (in the 10 but not the 4-item scale), number of active goals, goal attainment, and RAND SF-36 general health scores over the 12months. However, the effect estimates for these outcomes were lower than the MCID.

Table 2.	Within-group	p analysis of	outcomes fo	or participants	in the interve	ention group	(n=9) and $(n=9)$	comparator	group (n=	7) using (	GEE.
Analysis	controls for	gender and a	ge. P values	<0.05 are sig	nificant.						

Outcome		Interventi	on Group	Comparator Group				MCID	
	Baseline	12-months	Change	p-Value	Baseline	12-months	Change	p-Value	
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	β (95%Cl)		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	β (95%Cl)		
Mental Health									
Insomnia Severity Index (ISI)	9.56 (5.00)	5.33 (4.92)	-1.19 (-2.04 to -0.33)	0.006	9.71 (4.39)	8.00 (3.51)	-0.45 (-0.81 to -0.09)	0.014	6
Patient Health Questionnaire 9	7.56 (5.27)	3.00 (1.73)	-1.01 (-1.76 to -0.27)	0.008	6.7 (4.72)	5.43 (2.99)	-0.27 (-0.86 to 0.33)	0.384	5
Perceived Stress Index – 4 Item (PSS4)	5.44 (3.00)	2.56 (1.13)	-0.670 (-1.12 to -0.22)	0.003	5.43 (3.15)	4.29 (1.89)	-0.25 (-0.69 to 0.19)	0.257	ND
Perceived Stress Index – 10 Item (PSS10)	14.89 (5.82)	8.67 (3.74)	-1.44 (-2.31 to -0.57)	0.001	14.57 (5.68)	11.14 (4.74)	-1.00 (-1.75 to -0.25)	0.009	2 to 4
Life Change Index (LCI)	290 (245)	217 (131)	-16.87 (-67.884 to 32.15)	0.517	501 (506)	446 (331)	-11.12 (-32.45 to 10.22)	0.307	ND
DeJong Gierveld Total Score (loneliness)	3.22 (2.82)	0.56 (0.88)	-0.48 (-0.76 to -0.21)	<0.001	3.00 (3.92)	2.43 (2.99)	-0.14 (-0.40 to 0.12)	0.279	ND
Goals			1		<b>I</b>		1	1	
Number of Active Goals	2.67 (0.71)	3.67 (1.12)	0.20 (0.07 to 0.02)	0.003	1.71 (0.49)	2.57 (0.79)	0.21 (0.10 to 0.33)	<0.001	ND
Goal Attainment Score	1.81 (0.60)	5.40 (0.96)	1.06 (0.89 to 1.23)	<0.001	2.07 (1.10)	4.21 (0.99)	0.59 (0.35 to 0.84)	<0.001	1
Rand SF-36 (health related quality of life)			1		<b>I</b>		1	1	
Physical Functioning	48.33 (31.22)	58.33 (34.00)	2.48 (-2.31 to 7.27)	0.310	67.14 (28.12)	75.00 (19.79)	1.96 (-0.73 to 4.65)	0.154	10
Role Limitation due to Physical Health	36.11 (48.59)	52.77 (40.40)	5.02 (-1.67 to 11.71)	0.142	46.43 (44.32)	60.71 (49.70)	3.05 (-5.78 to 11.88)	0.498	10
Role Limitation to due Emotional Well-Being	48.15 (44.44)	55.56(37.27)	1.85 (-0.91 to 4.62)	0.189	61.90 (40.50)	57.14 (41.79)	-0.02 (5.78 to 5.74)	0.995	10
Energy/ Fatigue	38.89 (25.59)	52.22(10.34)	3.08 (-0.66 to 6.81)	0.106	45.71 (17.66)	57.86 (18.00)	3.10 (-0.93 to 7.12)	0.131	10
Emotional Well-Being	72.44 (14.76)	79.11 (7.15)	1.13 (-0.16 to 2.41)	0.085	71.43 (20.97)	71.43 (13.15)	0.95 (-1.91 to 3.81)	0.516	10
Social Functioning	58.33 (33.66)	72.22 (19.54)	3.24 (-0.02 to 5.50)	0.051	64.29 (32.62)	71.43 (21.30)	2.36 (-1.69 to 6.41)	0.253	10
Pain	51.67 (27.39)	68.33 (27.78)	4.30 (1.52 to 7.09)	0.002	49.64 (31.83)	53.93 (24.50)	0.97 (-2.42 to 4.35)	0.575	10
General Health	35.00 (14.58)	57.22 (25.01)	5.57 (2.02 to 9.12)	0.002	57.86 (25.63)	65.71 (22.81)	1.95 (1.13 to 2.76)	<0.001	10

Physical Composite Score	34.11 (11.81)	41.72 (14.09)	1.95 (0.06 to 3.85)	0.043	40.31 (11.32)	45.27 (6.14)	1.19 (-0.22 to 2.61)	0.099	2 to 4
Mental Composite Score	42.73 (8.12)	46.63 (7.52)	0.29 (-1.60 to 2.18)	0.761	44.33 (13.58)	45.04 (11.72)	0.43 (-1.31 to 2.17)	0.630	2 to 4
Health Utility Index (health related quality of life)									
HUI3 Composite Score	0.44 (0.33)	0.59 (0.28)	0.03 (-0.01 to 0.08)	0.155	0.54 (0.28)	0.62 (0.22)	0.02 (-0.02 to 0.05)	0.373	0.03
HUI2 Composite Score	0.61 (0.29)	0.69 (0.18)	0.02 (-0.01 to 0.05)	0.250	0.67 (0.30)	0.70 (0.24)	0.01 (-0.02 to 0.03)	0.548	0.03
HUI General Health	3.78 (0.97)	3.33 (1.22)	-0.15 (-0.39 to 0.09)	0.219	2.86 (0.69)	2.57 (0.79)	-0.07 (-0.20 to 0.06)	0.285	0.05
Anthropometric						•			
Systolic BP (mmHG)	126.57 (9.83)	131.14 (19.12)	-19.88 (-46.97 to 7.22)	0.150	123.86 (20.47)	120.29 (18.63)	-1.24 (-2.97 to 0.48)	0.659	2
Diastolic BP (mmHG)	83.29 (9.55)	79.00 (8.45)	-24.55 (-54.10 to 5.00)	0.103	79.86 (7.65)	76.57 (10.11)	-0.90 (-2.70 to 0.89)	0.324	2
BMI (kg/m²)	42.33 (8.52)	42.55 (7.89)	0.05 (-0.20 to 0.30)	0.667	30.04 (5.25)	30.17 (5.24)	0.03 (-0.30 to 0.37)	0.849	5 to 10%
Hip circumference (cm)	134.20 (16.89)	135. 62 (17.48)	0.36 (-0.49 to 1.20)	0.688	114.31 ( 7.49)	112.57 (10.31)	-0.37 (-1.32 to 0.58)	0.444	ND
Waist circumference (cm)	127.91 (21.24)	125.48 (21.27)	-0.63 (-2.03 to 0.77)	0.375	104.86 (7.58)	105.71 (7.78)	0.23 (-0.93 to 1.39)	0.695	ND
Waist-hip ratio	0.95 (0.05)	0.92 (0.07)	-0.01 (-0.02 to -0.01)	0.023	0.92 (0.05)	0.94 (0.04)	0.01 (0.001 to 0.01)	0.013	ND

ND – Not determined

# Between group analyses

The overall test of the intervention effect compared to the comparator group was performed using a GEE analysis. Table 3 summarizes effect estimates after 12-months and controlling for baseline differences, age and gender. Participants in the intervention group were significantly more likely to increase their goal attainment score by 1.36 points (95%CI: 0.51, 2.20), reduce their depression score by 4.08 points (95%CI: -7.23, -0.94), reduce their loneliness scores by 2.23 points (95%CI: -3.88, -0.58), and increase their RANDSF-36 general health score by 16.92 (95%CI: 3.38, 39.47) than participants in the comparator group after 12-months. Additionally, there was a small but statistically significant intervention effect on decreasing waist to hip ratio after 12-months.

**Table 3.** Between group analysis for patient-centered outcomes (N=16) using GEE analysis and controlling for age and gender. P- value <0.05 are significant.

OUTCOMES (N=16)	Effect (β)	95%	95% CI	
Comparator group used as reference	. ,	Lower	Upper	
Mental Health				
Insomnia Severity Index	-2.48	-5.75	0.79	0.138
Patient Health Questionnaire 9	-4.08	-7.23	-0.94	0.011
Perceived Stress Index – 4 Item scale	-1.54	-4.16	1.09	0.251
Perceived Stress Index – 10 Item scale	-2.40	-7.33	2.53	0.340
Life Change Index	-28.79	-208.20	150.61	0.753
DeJong Gierveld Score	-2.23	-3.88	-0.58	0.008
Goals				
Number of Active Goals	0.12	-0.40	0.64	0.659
Goal Attainment Score	1.36	0.51	2.20	0.002
Rand SF-36				
Physical Functioning	9.41	-6.42	25.24	0.244
Role Limitation due to Physical Health	3.29	-47.24	53.83	0.898
Role Limitation to due Emotional Well-Being	11.67	-25.92	49.26	0.540
Energy/ Fatigue	0.95	-23.82	25.72	0.940
Emotional Well-Being	6.90	-3.13	16.92	0.178
Social Functioning	7.28	-10.64	25.19	0.426
Pain	14.42	-3.32	32.15	0.111
General Health	16.92	3.38	39.47	0.014
Physical Composite Score	4.17	-4.68	13.02	0.356
Mental Composite Score	3.43	-5.29	12.14	0.441
Health Utility Index				

HUI3 Composite Score	0.14	-0.04	0.31	0.132
HUI2 Composite Score	0.07	-0.06	0.20	0.285
HUI General Health	-0.29	-1.33	0.75	0.583
Anthropometric		-		-
Systolic BP (mmHG)	-8.57	-18.85	1.53	0.096
Diastolic BP (mmHG)	-0.09	-8.21	8.03	0.983
BMI (kg/m²)	0.06	-1.97	0.76	0.935
Hip circumference (cm)	2.02	-1.63	5.67	0.279
Waist circumference (cm)	-3.77	-10.29	2.73	0.252
Waist-hip ratio	-0.05	-0.08	-0.16	0.003

# Program satisfaction: quantitative findings

Participants in the intervention group rated the intervention higher in satisfaction and

usefulness than participants in the comparator group. See table 4.

**Table 4.** Participant satisfaction, enjoyability and usefulness scores using a 5-point Likert scale. High values correspond to favourable outcomes [5= very satisfied /enjoyable/useful, 4 = somewhat satisfied /enjoyable/useful, 3= neutral, 2= Not very satisfied /enjoyable/useful, 1= not at all satisfied/enjoyable/useful].

Scores	Intervention Group N=9	Comparator Group N=7	Mean Difference <sup>a</sup>	P value
	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	(95%CI)	
Satisfaction	5.0 (0)	3.71 (1.11)	1.28 (0.50- 2.07)	0.004
Enjoyability	4.89 (0.33)	4.29 (1.11)	0.6 (-0.23- 1.44)	0.143
Usefulness	5.0 (0)	3.43 (1.13)	1.57 (0.77-2.37)	0.001

<sup>a</sup>Independent t-test

# Program Satisfaction: qualitative findings

These findings were supported by the 12-month qualitative interviews with participants from both the intervention (n=9) and comparator (n=7) groups. Overwhelmingly, participants in the intervention group described the program as *excellent*, *helpful*, *valuable*, *and life changing* and they were *happy to have spent time in the program*. Moreover, they felt the program was self-empowering, promoted health literacy or awareness, and provided the motivation and accountability to make positive changes.

"I think everyone should have the opportunity to have this program... because it helps you focus on your needs and wants and how to correct the habits that you accumulated all your life that are holding you back. It just is a fabulous program with your mind, your body, the exercise, it just forms a healthier you." Intervention Participant 1 - 12 month

"Last year this time I felt depressed, I was completely inactive because of pain, I was not exercising at all, I was having difficulty with stairs and getting in and out of the bathtub. I felt defeated and I felt old. And over the course of this year I felt like I was given back my life. I feel healthier, I feel stronger. I feel empowered. I feel like I have been given some very important tools. I no longer feel defeated. A big difference is in my health and my outlook. My mood, exercise and diet change have made impacts to my mental health state." Intervention Participant 2 -12 month

In contrast, participants in the comparator group had mixed reactions regarding their

overall satisfaction and usefulness of the program. Most described the program as somewhat helpful, useful, and supportive. Participants in the comparator group enjoyed developing health goals with the research assistant and described it as an easy, simple, and manageable process to identify lifestyle changes. Ultimately, they felt the program was limited in helping them make those changes. One comparator group participant stated that they would have benefited more from a more intensive program and that a limitation in their progress was the lack of interaction with the program resulting in the lack of motivation and accountability to make a change.

"I think the program re-enforced what I know, the need for exercise and the healthy benefits in doing that and the problems that I have. I still have difficulty pushing myself to do it... I needed more contact to stay on track and to help be accountable." Comparator Participant 1- 12 month

"So, for me follow-up and support are crucial. And it is terrible to think that I can't do that for myself, but I am not good at that." Comparator Participant 2 - 12 month

#### Adoption

Adoption was assessed using qualitative interviews at 6 and 12-months from interventionists (n=4) and healthcare providers (n=3) to explore their perspectives on the adoption of the program. In total 7 individuals were included in this analysis of which two were

male. The common concepts regarding adoption of the program were centered on a holistic approach to care, which aligned with their personal vision and goals, including the ability to spend time with participants/patients, providing counselling and mental health supports, and professional collaboration. The main differences between the 6-month and 12-months interviews were that the participants' primary care providers were less aware of the HLP at 6-months than at 12-months.

#### Holistic approach to care

Providing a holistic approach to care was an important adoption factor among interventionists as they felt that the program aligned with their personal vision, mission, and goals. Specifically, they valued the ability to address both symptoms and causes of complex health issues from multiple perspectives for participants, rather than the traditional piecemeal or silo approach they experienced in the clinical setting.

"It's been extremely gratifying and enjoyable working with patients [participants] in this matter where you can actually not have to focus on one thing and be able to look at the entire person and say yes you've got knee pain that keeps you up at night that causes a lot of stress in your life." Interventionist 3-12 month

#### *Time with participants*

The ability to provide more time and increased follow-up interactions with participants was identified as a critical component to the successful acceptance and adoption of the HLP. Interventionists and healthcare providers both identified the inability to spend time with patients as a barrier to providing care in clinical settings. Therefore, interventionists valued building personal relationships with participants and being able to provide a high-quality level of care that is afforded by a 1-year program, without the external pressures and time constraints associated with a high-volume clinical practice. "It's more gratifying when I don't have to try to pump them [participants] through as numbers, or not to worry about my numbers, I don't have to worry about wait times, I don't have to worry about this I can actually do something positive as opposed to say here's a prescription for this and I'll see you again in six months and then that's about it." Interventionist 3 - 12 month

"[What] struck me is how patient [centred] a program it is, that it goes on for a long time as opposed to sort of that a quick dip-in and give people some advice and set some goals and then be done. That there is follow-up and fine tuning and checking in about how things are going and that I think is realistically how people make change." Healthcare Provider 1 - 6 month

## Providing counselling and mental health supports

A common acceptability and adoption theme by interventionists and healthcare providers was regarding the program's ability to provide needed counselling and mental health supports to participants. Both interventionists and healthcare providers felt that the lack of counselling supports around evidence-based preventative care and the promotion of healthy lifestyle behaviours were key barriers to providing care in practice. Therefore, healthcare providers felt that the program's ability to provide CBT and activating patients towards healthy lifestyles were important aspects of the program that were missing in their primary care settings. The program's design to address behavioural change and provide counselling and behavioural therapy supports resonated with both interventionists and healthcare providers.

"The healthcare system is set up for acute problems and not for chronic longterm conditions and is not set up in a supportive way where you can have the counseling, or support system in place to say it's okay that you're feeling this way we can help you to a certain point, but a lot of the onus is on you as well and giving them the tools." Interventionist 3-12 month

"The activation piece of getting people moving and exercise and active I think as a community we don't do particularly well, and you know especially for disenfranchised people who don't have resources." Healthcare Provider 1-6 month

"It has been very difficult to access CBT for anybody let alone psychiatric patients. Getting into behavioural change for an active lifestyle I do not think they exist unless some of my counselors do a little bit of it on the side. So, CBT

would be effective for those people [patients] but I do not know how to do it. But if I could send them to someone that would be great." Healthcare Provider 3 – 12 month

# Professional communication, collaboration and support

Good communication, multidisciplinary collaboration and support from interventionists were identified as important aspects contributing to the adoption of the program. Interventionists commented that debriefings afforded them the opportunity to provide their unique input, learn from others with different skill sets, and have an additional level of professional support that they otherwise would not be exposed to in their clinical practices. Interventionists found it meaningful to collaborate and communicate with participants to develop their personalized goals and action plans, which they felt was empowering for both the participants and themselves.

"I value also seeing or having other health professionals see what a [removed for identification purposes] does. You don't get that in many settings. Whereas here, when we are talking, I'm being able to showcase what my role is, how I am valued, how my suggestions are valued, and how the patients improved from these suggestions or how they are incorporating." Interventionist 2-12 month

"The other big thing is it is multidisciplinary; I will see the participant and I will go through between half hour to an hour with them and then another health professional will do the same. Then when we get together and talk about the patient and, all of a sudden, we see things from different angles and then we start to tease out more of the underlying issues that are involved so then we fill in each other's gaps and work really well together. Truly talking to one another about the participant, so there is a lot of communication." Interventionist 3-6month

#### Implementation

Qualitative feedback regarding program implementation factors were collected through semi-structured interviews with intervention (n=9) and comparator (n=7) participants at 12-months, interventionists (n=4) and healthcare providers (n=3) at 6 and 12 months, focus groups with family members (n=3) at 9-months, and from a participant feedback survey at 9-months

(n=16). Implementation factors were found that addressed program components, duration of program, location of program, and program resources.

#### Program component: Individual sessions with healthcare team

There was 100% attendance to all individual monthly sessions by participants in the intervention group. Participants highly valued the monthly in-person interaction with their healthcare team because they felt that consistent follow-ups or check-ins allowed for timely and specialized attention to address any perceived barriers in maintaining engagement towards their goals. One participant compared the program's follow-up schedule to their experience in another high-intensity service but emphasized that the specialized skills and knowledge of the interventionists and their capacity to provide tailored supports and advice had set the HLP apart. The need for tailored advice extended beyond the interventionist's knowledge of the condition; it was important for participants to build that relationship and sense of trust through consistent interaction with the interventionist who understood their health and life context to provide the appropriate level of tailored supports.

"Well, I liked meeting once a month with the staff [interventionists] because that kept me on track and if I had barriers or obstacles and I would let them know what they are and we would work to solving them." Intervention Participant 4- 12 month

Similarly, participants in the comparator group attended 100% of all individual sessions with the research assistant. However, comparator group participants felt that meeting with the research assistant every three months was not enough interaction to maintain engagement towards their goals and that the research assistant was limited in their capacity to provide tailored knowledge and education.

"Having some kind of information in between those three-month visits that was a long time and it was kind of hard to keep up the impetus I think." Comparator participant 2 - 12 month

Program component: Group psycho-educational sessions

Participants in the intervention group valued the group psycho-educational sessions

because they felt it was an opportunity to build connections and gain support from their peers,

which kept them accountable to the program. One participant stated:

"Building the bond with people who were in the program that was also helpful to me because some days I thought oh I did not want to go because I got busy or tired I said oh no I should go because people were counting on me and/or I would learn something." Intervention Participant 9 - 12 month

Similarly, we observed statistically significant correlations between mental health and goal related outcomes and attendance in these sessions (see table 5). Additionally, participants found the content delivered during the sessions informative. One participant commented that it was the combination of group sessions and individualized meetings with interventionists that had the greatest impact on their ability to make a behavioural change.

"I feel that the most useful were the sessions because we would get handouts and we take notes and sometimes we would watch videos and staff would explain the topic in great detail so I would be able to retain the information and I had a better understanding." Intervention Participant 4 - 12 month

*"I think one without the other would not have been so transformational for me."* Intervention participant 3 - 12 month

Regarding the delivery of the group psycho-educational sessions, interventionists commented that group sessions could be expanded to include a variety of other topics such as nutritional education and cooking, and activities such as yoga and tai chi. However,

interventionists felt it was important to review or repeat sessions to re-enforce participant

understanding and address behavioural change. In total 43 of the 50 planned (86%) sessions were delivered, with most sessions cancelled due to bad weather and with minor adjustments made to the programming schedule.

**Table 5.** Associations between attendance and outcomes for the intervention group participants (n=9). Analysis using GEE and p-value set to 0.05.

OUTCOMES (n=9)	Effect (β)	95% CI		<i>p</i> -value
		Lower	Upper	·
Mental Health				
Insomnia Severity Index	-0.166	-0.227	-0.055	0.003
Patient Health Questionnaire 9	-0.135	-0.228	-0.42	0.004
Perceived Stress Index – 4 Item scale	-0.084	-0.146	-0.022	0.008
Perceived Stress Index – 10 Item scale	-0.187	-0.312	-0.062	0.003
Life Change Index	-2.974	-11.673	5.726	0.503
DeJong Gierveld Score	-0.075	-0.111	-0.038	<0.001
Goals				
Number of Active Goals	0.035	0.013	0.057	0.002
Goal Attainment Score	0.117	0.060	0.174	<0.001
Rand SF-36				
Physical Functioning	0.255	-0.227	0.737	0.300
Role Limitation due to Physical Health	0.322	-0.555	1.199	0.427
Role Limitation to due Emotional Well-Being	0.077	-0.393	0.548	0.747
Energy/ Fatigue	0.454	0.042	0.865	0.031
Emotional Well-Being	0.226	-0.040	0.492	0.095
Social Functioning	0.510	0.052	0.968	0.029
Pain	0.320	-0.057	0.697	0.096
General Health	0.867	0.411	1.341	<0.001
Physical Composite Score	0.201	-0.004	0.406	0.055
Mental Composite Score	0.180	0.098	0.261	<0.001
Health Utility Index	-	-	-	-
HUI3 Composite Score	0.004	-0.002	0.010	0.243
HUI2 Composite Score	0.003	-0.001	0.007	0.188
HUI General Health	-0.020	-0.047	0.008	0.160
Anthropometric				
Systolic BP (mmHG)	0.158	-0.154	0.470	0.321
Diastolic BP (mmHG)	-0.080	-0.258	0.098	0.377
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	-0.012	-0.048	0.024	0.517
Hip circumference (cm)	-0.138	-0.351	0.075	0.205
Waist circumference (cm)	0.012	-0.098	0.123	0.826
Waist-hip ratio	-0.001	-0.002	0.000	0.003

Proposed program components: Family involvement and community supports

Family members and participants believed family plays an important role as a support or barrier for behaviour change. Family members viewed their role as one of providing support through encouragement, participating in the adoption of lifestyle changes and providing supports. Interventionists also expressed the need to expand the program to better engage participant's family members in order to facilitate greater adoption of lifestyle changes.

"I've been joining in activities and supportive in terms of encouraging more consistency. I do the driving so I'm supplying the transportation." Family member 2 - 9 month

"I would think the number one thing [about family] is that if they are not participating then they are not contributing. For example, I have been trying to make food changes in what I eat, but my father is not in a position where he wants to change anything that he eats. So, I think if everyone in the house is trying to do the same then there is more of a buy-in." Comparator Participant 4 - 12 month

Interventionists identified the need for the HLP to link participants to more community

supports. Perspectives regarding the role of the community in leading a healthy lifestyle were mixed among participants. Some identified the need for greater linkage to community resources or supports, while others did not feel they needed to engage in community supports or were unaware of the supports available to them. However, participants did feel that there should be greater physically and financially accessible community supports.

"I think there should be more help out there for people with lower income to be able to get physio and that, because I'm having difficulty getting physio that I need and being able to pay for it." Intervention Participant 6-12 month

Proposed program component: Physical activity or exercise

The desire to have a facility or space with the capacity to provide a gym, aqua therapy or physiotherapy was highlighted by both interventionists and participants. Interventionists felt that

an on-site recreational or exercise space would better address the physical health related goals

and needs for this study population to apply physical activity through practice.

I think it would be great to have a location like a gym or physiotherapy where we could actually make use...so that they'll be more connection between what we're recommending and what they're ultimately doing." Interventionist 1 - 12 month

*"The only thing that is lacking is exercise, actual physical doing exercise."* Intervention Participant 5 - 12 month

Duration of program

Participants and interventionists felt that one year or more was an appropriate duration

for the program. There was recognition that behavioural change is difficult, requires time, and

seldom occurs in a linear manner. Participants felt that although health goals may be achieved

within the year, it can fluctuate, and having the opportunity to work on sustaining goals was

important. Seasonal fluctuations, especially winter months, can be barriers to making lifestyle

changes. Planning proactively for winter was addressed in the program.

"I think a year is really good because it is enough time that a person can experience taking steps forward and sliding back and forward again." Interventionist 4 -12 month

"So, the one was weather or seasons, because I know I am affected with seasonal disorder. Certainly, when it is dark I do not do anything and I want to eat more or sleep more." Comparator Participant 1-12 month

"Yeah, I like the length of it. It was ongoing so you had your chances. I had my ups and downs and it was long winter and it was hard on everybody." Intervention Participant 7 -12 month

# Location of program

An important setting level consideration that facilitated the implementation of the program was ensuring a space that was centrally located, accessible by public transit, included parking and could accommodate individuals with mobility limitations. Having a mixture of both class-room style spaces and private consultation rooms helped facilitate the group psycho-

educational sessions, as well as created a safe and private space for interventionists and

participants to discuss health goals and action plans.

"I love the location because it was accessible, like where we get dropped off it was all level and the fact there are elevators and accessible washrooms. The fact that the room, the chairs were accessible and were not constricting." Intervention Participant 4 - 12 month

Program resources: Musculoskeletal (MSK) specialist and Program administrator

Having a musculoskeletal specialist allowed for accurate diagnosis and treatment of

physical and mobility related issues that would have otherwise gone untreated for this particular

study population.

"There's a huge gap in our healthcare system that does not address MSK problems. Family doctors are notoriously bad at diagnosing MSK problems and physical therapists are not trained to diagnose ... so you get this cycle where you are getting people that are being referred to orthopedics inappropriately because it is not a surgical problem, but there should be some kind of in between non-operative orthopedic or even sports medicine that really focuses on the MSK problems and that is one part of this program that has worked ridiculously well" Interventionist 1 - 6 month

Interventionists identified the need for an administrator to help facilitate the

implementation of the program including coordinating participant schedules, reminders,

and logistical day-to-day operations (e.g., room bookings, chart set-up, workflow).

# Discussion

# Summary of findings and recommendations for future trial

This pilot study evaluated the feasibility and implementation of the HLP, a novel 12month complex behavioural lifestyle intervention comprised of participant-centred goal development, individualized action plan setting, and group psycho-education sessions. The findings showed that the protocol was feasible with minimal changes needed to conduct a larger, definitive trial. In terms of study protocol, the following are key recommendations to consider for a larger trial: active recruitment methods to target more male participants, use of a waitlist control group to improve retention rates, collecting baseline data prior to allocation and randomization to minimize missing data, and either simplify the costs and medical utilization log or leverage ICES (formally known as the Institute for Clinical Evaluative Sciences) data for an economic analysis.

In terms of program implementation, there are a few key changes to consider for a definitive trial. First, the program should continue to be delivered as a 12-month intervention as both participants and interventionists remarked that it afforded the time to make lasting behavioural changes. Second, some group psycho-social education programs can be delivered in an online format and the number of sessions should be reduced to reflect lower attendance observed by participants at the end of the program. Third, topics covered in the group-psychosocial program can be expanded to include for example more nutrition/cooking and the program should incorporate access to a gym or physical activity services. This would allow participants to implement their program learnings into practice.

Qualitatively, participants, interventionists and healthcare providers expressed acceptance of the intervention because it was holistic and aligned with the shared principles of

multidisciplinary care (e.g. collaboration, continuity of care, person-centred).<sup>88</sup> Quantitative data showed trends that the intervention improved mean goal attainment, depression and loneliness scores. However, this pilot study is not powered to detect changes and these results should be interpreted as suggestive findings.

#### Recruitment and representativeness

Recruitment was successful at reaching the 30-participant enrollment target within three months, exceeding about 50% of all randomized trials that do not reach their enrollment targets and subsequently extend their recruitment costs and time.<sup>89,90</sup> Comparatively, lifestyle or behavioural change trials report recruitment rates ranging between 30-78%.<sup>36</sup> The strategy of using passive recruitment methods<sup>91</sup> (i.e., local newsletter advertisements, word of mouth and posters) proved successful at generating interest in the study as 72 individuals initially contacted the program. As expected, the pragmatic design of a broad inclusion criteria resulted in a high eligibility rate of 97%. However, an exclusion criterion was added during recruitment for untreated and unstable health conditions to ensure participants were able to safely participate in group programing. In comparison to lifestyle trials with explanatory design, eligibility rates range between 16 to 66% and often exclude participants with multiple chronic diseases.<sup>92,93</sup> The advantage of incorporating broad eligibility criteria was to capture a representative sample of a population more likely to enroll in lifestyle programs in real-world settings, strengthening the study's external validity.

There was an overrepresentation of older adult females (81%) compared to the population of Hamilton, Ontario in the study sample. This is consistent with other lifestyle or behaviour change trials.<sup>94,95</sup> Lifestyle trials, specifically weight loss related interventions, tend to have an underrepresentation of males with the average study sample containing 27%.<sup>94</sup> Furthermore,

about a third of all lifestyle trials exclude males from their study, whereas about 5% of all lifestyle studies exclusively focus on males or male-specific health conditions.<sup>94</sup> Reasons for this gender bias are not well understood. One possible explanation is that males are less likely to exhibit health seeking behaviours towards medical and psychological interventions including participation in preventative services or health promotion activities.<sup>94,96–99</sup> <sup>100</sup> As a result, it has been shown that males are more likely to delay routine check-ups, health consultations and underutilize clinically appropriate care.<sup>96–98</sup>

Another plausible but weakly supported explanation is that males exhibit greater selfefficacy towards self-directed behavioural change rather than through group setting interventions.<sup>94</sup> However, the rising prevalence of chronic diseases among male and female genders would suggest otherwise.<sup>101</sup> A review of randomized controlled trials for male inclusion showed that self-guided lifestyle interventions had a higher representation of males compared to counsellor or group guided lifestyle interventions, although this difference was not statistically significant.<sup>94</sup> Therefore, males may have greater interest in lifestyle interventions when delivered in a self-guided format. Nevertheless, there is an overwhelming lack of research regarding gender bias and the apparent lack of male inclusion to lifestyle or behavioural change trials.<sup>99</sup> This study highlights this concern for the risk of gender bias when scaling for a definitive trial. Therefore, potential mitigation strategies to increase the recruitment of males for a definitive trial may include using targeted recruitment methods (i.e., messaging), encouraging female participants to invite male participants (i.e., snowball recruitment of family and friends) and/or the delivery of online or self-paced group sessions to allow for some self-guided format.<sup>102,103</sup>

Education and income are key indicators of socioeconomic status.<sup>104</sup> Recruitment through passive strategies yielded a greater proportion of participants with an education attainment level

above high school compared to the sociodemographic composition of Hamilton, Ontario. The overrepresentation of highly educated participants was consistent with recruitment profiles of other lifestyle trials and it has been shown that passive recruitment strategies attract highly educated participants.<sup>91,105</sup> Considering that participants exhibited health seeking behaviour (i.e. motivated and ready to make behavioural change) to enroll in the study suggests that participants had some degree of health literacy, which is believed to be positively correlated with education.<sup>106,107</sup> Nevertheless, the recruitment process for a definitive trail may adopt a more targeted strategy to engage populations with lower formal education levels, especially considering that participants with lower education levels exhibit greater health risks and therefore, may have the greatest to gain from this intervention.<sup>108</sup>

Interestingly and somewhat contradictory, the proportion of participants with a household income less than \$50,000 per year was higher compared to the population of Hamilton, Ontario, and for a study using passive recruitment strategies, given that education and income are highly correlated.<sup>91</sup> Unless lifestyle trials actively seek out and recruit participants from lower household incomes or from deprived areas this population is unlikely to be enrolled in studies. One explanation for our findings was our recruitment through Coffee News, a free newsletter found in the downtown core and other neighborhoods in Hamilton, Ontario, widely available in locations where low-income adults may frequent such as fast-food chains, local restaurants, and coffee shops. Conversely, we chose not to recruit through newspapers as they are often subscription based and would likely have excluded low-income populations. Another possible explanation is that this study's accessibility to public transit and no cost to enrollment may have been important implementation factors facilitating the enrollment of low-income individuals. Although access to care is a complex concept, geographic accessibility is considered an

important contextual factor that may act as a barrier or facilitator to enrollment.<sup>109</sup> In urban and semi-urban areas, poor transportation is commonly cited as a barrier to healthcare utilization resulting in unmet healthcare needs for segments of the population belonging to lower income levels. <sup>110,111</sup> Strategically implementing the HLP in a centrally located, accessible setting that accommodated mobility challenges likely facilitated the higher than anticipated enrollment of individuals with lower household income. Additionally, Hamilton, Ontario, has a low-cost transportation service for individuals with disabilities who are unable to access regular transit services .<sup>112</sup>

Although participants were not selected based on a chronic condition or poor health status, the majority of the study sample did self-identify as living with multiple chronic physical and mental health conditions and exhibited poor health outcomes at the beginning of the study. This overrepresentation of participants burdened by multimorbidity may be explained by the fact that individuals living with multimorbidity are more likely to enroll in lifestyle or behavioural change interventions as it is perceived as a holistic approach to care.<sup>113</sup> <sup>114</sup> It has been shown that individuals living with multimorbidity often perceive the lack of holistic care as a common barrier to engaging with the healthcare system that focuses on single disease management.<sup>115,116</sup> Multimorbidity is often associated with increased utilization of healthcare services, especially at the community level.<sup>117–119</sup> As a result, individuals burdened by multimorbidity may be more likely to seek health services or exhibit health seeking behaviours, however, these individuals are often excluded from randomized controlled trials.<sup>120</sup>

Further analysis of the study sample showed a recruitment profile that included an overrepresentation of participants exhibiting modifiable risk factors. There was a higher prevalence of obesity (65%) and lack of exercise (69%) compared to the Hamilton, Ontario,

population. This suggests that participants who were motivated to address weight loss may be more likely to seek lifestyle or behavioural trials. A similar recruitment profile (i.e., skewed towards those living with obesity) was observed in the HealthTrack study, a 2015 Australian lifestyle intervention .<sup>121</sup> However, the HealthTrack study excluded 51.5% recruited participants who were morbidly obese (>40kg/m2) due to the high likelihood of multimorbidities present but noted the high demand for lifestyle intervention at the community level.<sup>121</sup> Our findings confirm the demand for lifestyle intervention in Hamilton, Ontario, that is not well reflected in lifestyle or behavioural change trials with strict inclusion/ exclusion criteria.<sup>122</sup> Overall, the HLP was successful at reaching an at-risk population that would be likely to seek out a lifestyle or behavioural change program in the real-world community level setting.

# The following are recommendations to further refine the recruitment and representativeness for a larger study:

- A. Review and continue to use passive recruitment methods as in this pilot posters, Coffee News advertisement, information at physician offices. However, the recruitment strategy can incorporate active recruitment methods and encourage participants to refer friends/families to target underrepresented groups, especially male participants
- B. Consider developing online content to complement or substitute for grouppsychosocial sessions to allow for self-guided learning as a means to improve recruitment and retention of underrepresented groups

# Participation and retention rates

Participation (73%) and retention (53%) rates were lower than the 80% threshold considered adequate for randomized trials.<sup>123</sup> Achieving sufficient participation and retention

rates, especially for lifestyle trials that address mental health, is challenging for multiple reasons. There are psychological, physical and financial burdens associated with being part of any study, which may be more salient for lifestyle or behavioural change interventions that inherently require more time and effort, which is the opposite approach to the popular Westernized quick fix interventions.<sup>124–127</sup> Hence, most published trials range from 6-12 weeks, instead of 12 months such as in this pilot.<sup>127</sup> Notably, the Medifast program reported a retention rate of 26% after 24 weeks,<sup>128</sup> the Jenny Craig program with 60,000 participants had a retention rate of 6.6% after 52-weeks,<sup>129</sup> diabetes prevention programs report retention rates of 10.4% after 52weeks<sup>130</sup>, and other high intensity lifestyle intervention programs report a retention rate of 37% after 52-weeks. <sup>130</sup> A Cochrane review of 19 studies assessed the effects of goal setting and action planning for adults with chronic health conditions, however, only one study had enrolled participants with multiple chronic conditions.<sup>93</sup> Their one-year retention rates were 61% for intervention group and 57% for control,<sup>131</sup> which was comparable to the HLP (60% intervention group and 47% comparator group). Given these considerations, the HLP's 12-month retention rates were relatively high and may be partly explained by the financial incentives and prenotifications provided to participants, which are proven methods with positive effects on retention in other mental health trials.<sup>127</sup> However, research is beginning to identify motivation and readiness for change as key psychological factors facilitating the recruitment, attendance and adherence to lifestyle trials.<sup>132</sup>

Interestingly, the differences in retention rates between intervention and comparator groups may suggest that high intensity lifestyle interventions have greater acceptability and are well suited to retaining participants with chronic mental and physical health issues. There is some evidence to support this finding. In a systematic review of 28 pragmatic lifestyle

interventions from the United States, qualitative data showed that retention rates were related to participant perceptions of how likely the intervention was to be effective by its intensiveness rather than duration.<sup>133</sup> Similarly, a review of four large lifestyle interventions observed that the intensity of interventions were positively correlated with intervention efficacy.<sup>134</sup> Therefore, the lower retention rate observed among the comparator group could be explained by having enrolled motivated individuals who were ready to participate and make a change, but subsequently disappointed when allocated to the comparator group, as they perceived it as less salient of an intervention.<sup>124</sup> This may explain the loss to follow-up at the start of the study among comparator group participants who did not provide a reason for non-participation (n=3). Furthermore, comparator group participants felt that the 3-month interaction with the program was inadequate, in terms of frequency, to successfully maintain their goals.

The pilot study used a comparator group that had participants set individualized goals and action plans with the aid of a research assistant. Although the comparator group was justified as the aim of the pilot study was to compare the intervention to what is expected in real-world clinical settings as recommended by clinical practice guidelines<sup>135–137</sup>, it may not be feasible or helpful to continue with a comparator group for the larger trial. Furthermore, conducting a comparator or even a traditional placebo control group for an entire year is not expected to provide any further useful data, would require a considerable amount of resources and will likely underestimate the effect of the intervention.<sup>138</sup> This is because it is difficult to blind the subjects to control or active comparator group, likely causing participants to drop out or seek additional treatment outside of the study, and it is difficult to identify a control that is inactive but equally credible to participants.<sup>139</sup> For these reasons, a waitlist control group receiving usual care, might be more appropriate for a larger trial. The waitlist control group would follow usual care by their

primary care providers during the first year enrolled in the study. They would then be given the intervention. Having a waitlist control group that will receive the intervention is expected to increase the 12-month retention of participants in the comparator group .<sup>140</sup> Although there is a risk of loss to follow-up with a12-month waitlist, providing a financial incentive for data collection, describing the 12-month waitlist as a necessary baseline, and knowledge of receiving the intervention may be sufficient to retain participants.<sup>141</sup> For instance, at the end of the HLP study, participants in the comparator group casually express interest to enrol in the intervention program. Usual care compared to the intervention trial will also allow for better cost-effectiveness measures, which would provide more relevant information during analysis.

# The following are recommendations to improve participation and retention rates for a definitive trial:

- A. Consider wait list control trial design to improve retention rates in the comparator/control group;
- B. Consider the addition of an exclusion criterion for untreated and unstable health conditions, defined as having symptoms from established health conditions that interfere with activities, such as travel and keeping appointments, at least twice a month or more, as this was one of the main reasons for recruitment and attrition issues in the pilot.
- C. Continue financial incentives and reminders to participants for data collection;
- D. To ensure adequate power of a larger trial, increase the sample size to account for the loss to follow-up observed in this pilot.

# Missing data and data collection

There was minimal missing data (<1%) for participant-centred outcomes across the 12months with five follow-up assessment periods. This indicates that the trial was feasible from a data collection perspective, but it was a resource intensive and time-consuming process. Although multiple follow-up periods increased the power of the GEE analysis with no observed harms, it may be logistically beneficial to reduce the number of follow-up assessment periods. The high data completion rate may be attributed to the use of the REDcap system that made it practical and easy to record outcomes and identify incomplete data in a timely manner. This process of data quality assurance allowed for accurate and robust data collection and should be implemented in the larger trial. Additionally, providing financial incentives during assessments may have alleviated any financial burdens associated with participating in the study, for example cost associated with parking.<sup>142</sup> However, there were a few implementation challenges during the assessment process. This included GAD-7 (anxiety) scales inconsistently administered due to technical settings in REDcap and lack of appropriately large blood pressure cuffs at baseline. These issues were quickly identified at the beginning of the study and subsequently resolved. Furthermore, data collection did vary for the costs and medical utilization log because often participants neglected to track their medical utilization over the 3-month intervals. For a definitive trial, it may be more feasible, reliable and valid to obtain this information through Ontario Health Insurance Plan (OHIP) administrative data from IC/ES. However, the limitation is that OHIP administrative data would not capture out-of-pocket expenses and non-OHIP covered services. Finally, baseline data was inconsistently collected for participants who withdrew early from the study because it was collected after randomization and allocation to streamline the participant enrollment process. A future study protocol may consider collecting

baseline data prior to allocation and randomization to ensure completeness of data and using intention to treat analysis.

Several overlapping scales were used to determine best fit for a definitive trial. The intervention did appear to have a potential effect on general health quality of life measure for the RAND-SF36 but not the HUI scale. This is likely because the RAND SF-36 general health measure is a composite of 5 questions, whereas the HUI general health measure is a single item question. Therefore, it is plausible that the RAND SF-36 general health measure was more sensitive to change compared to the HUI general health measure. Although we did observe non-statistical improvements to quality-of-life measures for both RAND-SF36 and HUI, the interpretation of these findings is limited without an adequately powered sample. In terms of implementation of the two quality of life scales, it may be less resource intensive to analyze one scale for a definitive trial, in which case the RAND-SF36 would be easier to analyze and report. However, the findings from this study cannot suggest if one tool is superior to the other for a cost-effective analysis in a larger trial. Likewise, the 10-item PSS was observed to be more sensitive to change than the 4-item scale.

There were no observed changes to anthropometric outcomes, except for a small change in waist to hip ratio. There are several plausible explanations as to why the intervention did not show an effect on anthropometric outcomes. First, lifestyle interventions alone have shown varied effects on weight management, rather lifestyle interventions with an exercise and diet component are more likely to be effective.<sup>143</sup> Access to exercise facilities was not part of the intervention. Second, there were measurement errors and inconsistencies with regards to anthropometric outcomes during the study for blood pressure measurements, waist, hip and height measurements. Third, it could have been possible that participants were losing weight but

gaining muscle mass during the study. Fourth, because participant-directed goals are individualized and co-developed with the healthcare team, the focus of the intervention was on healthy lifestyle changes and addressing more salient risk behaviours and health outcomes like anxiety, pain management, depression, etc., to increase uptake and acceptability of the program rather than weight loss.

# The following are recommendations to improve data collection procedures:

- A. Consider collecting baseline data on all participants at the time of informed consent and before randomization.
- B. Review and continue using current data collection methods including quality assurance procedures. However, as no harms were found, consider decreasing amount of data collection times to every 6-months;
- C. Either simplify the costs and medical utilization form to reduce missing data or collect participant's medical utilization data from ICES;

# Attendance

Attendance at individualized program components were 100% for both groups. For the intervention group (n=9), the group psycho-educational sessions were reasonably well attended on a weekly basis, with a mean decline in attendance over time.

# The following are recommendations for attendance:

- A. Reduce the frequency of group psycho-educational sessions from weekly to biweekly over the latter part of the 12-months to coincide with the observed decline in attendance.
- B. Consider including online programming to facilitate attendance

# Other implementation and intervention considerations

# Program components

The process of capturing patient-relevant goal attainment and providing feedback to participants to practice behaviour change during the individual and group sessions were valued by both participants and interventionists. Evidence suggests that goal setting and action planning is more effective when paired with consistent monitoring and feedback, if the goal is difficult, and if peer support is available. <sup>144</sup> Additionally, greater intensity of the intervention (i.e., engagement) is an important factor associated with improving mental health outcomes like depression. <sup>145</sup> Group sessions have been shown as effective ways to improve loneliness, <sup>146</sup> which is further supported by the positive correlation between attendance and mental health outcomes, specifically loneliness scores, in this study. Considerations for a future intervention included to expand group session topics around nutrition, to incorporate family programming and community supports, and to include physical activity or exercise components to allow participants to apply their knowledge to practice.

#### Duration of program

Participants, interventionists, and healthcare providers emphasized the importance of delivering the intervention for a minimum of 12-months. Although studies show that lifestyle interventions delivered within a short period of time can produce promising effects, often these effects do not last over long periods of time.<sup>147,148</sup> This is because behavioural change is complex, difficult, takes time to achieve, and rarely occurs in a straightforward, linear way.<sup>149,150</sup> Rather, relapses are common when achieving one's goals.<sup>151</sup> Therefore, having the intervention delivered for 12-months likely empowered participants to build the necessary skills to prevent relapses from affecting their goal attainment and mental health outcomes. Although a 12-month program requires a great deal of resources, this study showed preliminary improvements in

outcomes like goal-attainment, depression, loneliness and general health after 12-months. These findings align with multiple guidelines including the American Heart Association, American College of Cardiology, and The Obesity Society who have suggested there is strong evidence to recommend the use of high intensity lifestyle interventions for 6 or more months to realize health benefits.<sup>130,152,153</sup> Furthermore, authors from the RADIEL study (2017), which examined cardiometabolic health among women after 6 years post intervention, attributed the absence of long-term effects to the high prevalence of gestational diabetes mellitus requiring participants to seek additional lifestyle advice and intensive follow-up with the healthcare system masking the effect of the intervention. <sup>147</sup> This suggests that short-term lifestyle interventions do not sufficiently meet the needs of higher risk populations that the HLP enrolled.

#### Location of program

Participants and interventionists liked the central and accessible location of the programs, including closeness to bus routes, elevators, and accessible restrooms. If physical activity or exercise components are added to the program, a location with all these amenities would be needed.

#### Program resources

Participants perceived the specialized intervention healthcare team as a valued and important program resource. The intervention healthcare team with significant skills and training in primary care, CBT, nutrition, and musculoskeletal system were able to diagnose and provide treatment needed to address the complexity of health issues and concerns of participants. Although the comparator group, delivered by an interventionist trained in theories of health behaviour, was able to facilitate the development of participant goals, greater change in outcomes and participant satisfaction was noticed among intervention participants. The

preliminary effectiveness of the program can be attributed to the knowledge and skills of the healthcare team in addressing healthy lifestyle changes, which may be a barrier in the primary healthcare system. <sup>154</sup> Other barriers to the successful implementation and sustainability of behavioural change interventions is finding the time, confidence and resources for primary care physicians to deliver and integrate these interventions into their clinical practice. <sup>155</sup>

A larger study would require significantly greater time and resources to schedule and prepare charts and program documents, therefore logistical and administrative support would be needed to ensure efficient workflow.<sup>156,157</sup> The intervention is relatively intensive presenting significant costs to deliver, and although an assessment of cost and benefit was not conducted in this pilot, these costs may be offset by lower utilization of other healthcare services and increased productivity from improved health outcomes.<sup>154</sup> Additionally, providing group-based psycho-educational sessions is one method of keeping the overall costs low.<sup>152</sup> There may be some flexibility in the delivery of the group psycho-education sessions. Whether this includes a combination of in-person and online delivery or strictly online would require further considerations. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic and social distancing requirements, offering this program virtually might provide an opportunity to reach those who are most in need. Nevertheless, given the need to reschedule some sessions due to bad weather, having online or virtual group-psychosocial sessions may improve accessibility of sessions for participants. Finally, interventionists and research assistants volunteered their time to deliver the HLP, however, this may not be a realistic expectation and therefore, there are additional costs to consider for the development of a larger trial.

# Strengths and Limitations

A strength of this study was its pragmatic trial design and robust quantitative and qualitative evaluation using the REAIM framework. The advantage of using this approach was that it combined research elements with real-world practice. For instance, the minimal inclusion and exclusion criteria allowed for the enrollment of a heterogeneous study population increasing the generalizability (external validity) of the trial results. Additionally, using the quantitative and qualitative evaluation approach allowed for the exploration of contextual factors, process and outcomes measures to better understand the programs' feasibility and implementation. It has been shown that many clinical trials often lack the necessary information to operationalize the intervention for real-world healthcare settings.<sup>158</sup> As a result, it can take more than a decade to translate research into clinical practice.<sup>158-160</sup> Additionally, the evaluation used data from multiple stakeholders providing greater context and perspectives regarding the results. The robustness of the results from this pilot study will help to inform a larger trial by better understanding elements of the intervention that were successful and elements that require changes for future implementation.

Limitations are related to the pilot nature of the study, which include the small sample size, a single centre study, inability to blind participants, and using a comparator group that dilutes the overall effectiveness of the results. However, the comparator protocol does mimic an intervention that one could expect to receive in a real-world setting, although seldom does, which allows for greater applicability and generalizability of findings to inform implementation research. In the analysis, confounders such as age and gender were controlled, however, due to the small sample size and unequal balance in gender distribution this may have introduced some spurious results. The effectiveness analysis does not control for multiplicity because the goal was to explore relationships within the data and potential impact on outcomes. Therefore, regardless

of statistical significance, findings are interpreted as preliminary. All the mental health outcome measures were self-reported; however, social desirability and selective recall bias were minimized by having research assistants collect data and by using online self-administered survey tools. The blood pressure and height measurements had a great deal of variation that may limit their accuracy and precision, this is most likely due to measurement error due to having multiple individuals collecting data and equipment limitations. GAD-7 scores were incomplete due to inconsistencies in the data capturing process at the beginning of the trial.

# Implications for practice

The long-term goal of this study is to improve health outcomes by empowering individuals to make healthy lifestyle and behavioural changes. This study has highlighted the interest, need, and acceptance of lifestyle or behavioural change interventions among participants with chronic diseases in Hamilton, Canada. The HLP is a novel method of translating applied evidence-based practice to a real-world community setting. This included co-developing person-centred health-related goals and action plans, and addressing mental health and behavioural health topics through group-based psychoeducation sessions..<sup>161</sup> The pilot study of the HLP showed evidence that the program aligned with the quadruple aim of healthcare systems as it was valued by participants and providers and has the potential for improving health outcomes. In terms of cost, a definitive trial would be needed to understand the potential cost-savings to the larger healthcare system.

# Conclusion

The HLP is a novel 12-month complex intervention to address behavioural or lifestyle risk factors for a population that is burdened by multimorbidities. This pilot study showed that the HLP study protocol is feasible and acceptable to implement within a community-based

setting. Although the study lacked power and assumptions should not be made regarding the intervention effectiveness, it was observed that the intervention improved mean goal attainment scores, depression, and loneliness for participants. We recommend that there is sufficient evidence presented in this paper to justify moving forward with a large scale, definitive trial with minimal changes recommended for the study and the intervention.

# REFERENCES

- 1. Public Health Agency of Canada. *How Healthy Are Canadians? A Trend Analysis of the Health of Canadians from a Healthy Living and Chronic Disease Perspective.*; 2016. doi:82-003-SPE
- P.E. R, C. S, D.J. C, et al. Perceived barriers to primary care among western Canadians with chronic conditions. *Heal reports*. 2014;25(4):3-10. http://ovidsp.ovid.com/ovidweb.cgi?T=JS&PAGE=reference&D=emed16&NEWS=N&A N=610711097.
- 3. CCO and Ontario Agency for Health Protection and Promotion (Public Health Ontario). The burden of chronic diseases in Ontario: key estimates to support efforts in prevention. *Toronto Queen's Print Ontario*. 2019;(July). doi:10.1016/j.ics.2005.01.021
- 4. Robinson D, Coons M, Haensel H, Vallis M, Yale J-F. Diabetes and mental health. *Can J Diabetes*. 2018;42:S130-S141. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.14-6-669
- 5. N. K, M. P, I.K. O, et al. Adherence to COPD treatment in turkey and Saudi Arabia: Results of the ADCARE study. *Int J COPD*. 2018;13:1377-1388. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2147/COPD.S150411
- Ormel J, Korff M Von, Burger H, et al. Mental disorders among persons with heart disease- Results from World Mental Health Surveys. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2007;29(4):325-334.

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2048744/pdf/nihms27120.pdf.

- Weiss SJ, Haber J, Horowitz JA, Stuart GW, Wolfe B. The inextricable nature of mental and physical health: Implications for integrative care. *J Am Psychiatr Nurses Assoc*. 2009;15(6):371-382. doi:10.1177/1078390309352513
- 8. Bair MJ, Wu J, Damush TM, Sutherland JM, Kroenke K. Association of depression and anxiety alone and in combination with chronic musculoskeletal pain in primary care patients. *Psychosom Med.* 2008;70(8):890-897. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e318185c510
- 9. Kawai K, Kawai AT, Wollan P, Yawn BP. Adverse impacts of chronic pain on healthrelated quality of life, work productivity, depression and anxiety in a community-based study. *Fam Pract*. 2017;34(6):656-661. doi:10.1093/fampra/cmx034
- 10. Chen CM, Lee IC, Su YY, Mullan J, Chiu HC. The longitudinal relationship between mental health disorders and chronic disease for older adults: a population-based study. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. 2017;32(9):1017-1026. doi:10.1002/gps.4561
- 11. Scott KM, Lim C, Al-Hamzawi A, et al. Association of mental disorders with subsequent chronic physical conditions: World mental health surveys from 17 countries. *JAMA Psychiatry*. 2016;73(2):150-158. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2015.2688
- 12. Branco JC, Rodrigues AM, Gouveia N, et al. Prevalence of rheumatic and musculoskeletal diseases and their impact on health-related quality of life, physical function and mental health in Portugal: Results from EpiReumaPt- a national health survey. *RMD Open*. 2016;2(1). doi:10.1136/rmdopen-2015-000166
- 13. Module WPAE, de Hert M, Cohen D, et al. Physical illness in patients with severe mental disorders. II. Barriers to care, monitoring and treatment guidelines, plus recommendations at the system and individual level. *World Psychiatry*. 2011;10(2):138-151.
- 14. Public Health Agency of Canada. Mood and Anxiety Disorders in Canada; Fast facts from the 2014 survey on living with chronic diseases in Canada. *Public Heal Agency Canada*.

2014:5-8.

- 15. Baxter AJ, Scott KM, Vos T, Whiteford HA. Global prevalence of anxiety disorders: A systematic review and meta-regression. *Psychol Med.* 2013;43(5):897-910. doi:10.1017/S003329171200147X
- 16. Osborn DPJ, Wright CA, Levy G, King MB, Deo R, Nazareth I. Relative risk of diabetes, dyslipidaemia, hypertension and the metabolic syndrome in people with severe mental illnesses: Systematic review and metaanalysis. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2008;8:1-14. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-8-84
- 17. Scott KM. Disorders With Adult Onset Chronic Physical Conditions. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. 2012;68(8):838-844. doi:10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.77.The
- 18. Skrove M, Romundstad P, Indredavik MS. Resilience, lifestyle and symptoms of anxiety and depression in adolescence: The Young-HUNT study. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* 2013;48(3):407-416. doi:10.1007/s00127-012-0561-2
- 19. Kaner G, Soylu M, Y??ksel N, Inan?? N, Ongan D, Ba??misirli E. Evaluation of nutritional status of patients with depression. *Biomed Res Int*. 2015;2015:521481. doi:10.1155/2015/521481
- 20. Public Health Agency of Canada. *Report from the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System.*; 2016. http://www.healthycanadians.gc.ca/publications/diseasesconditions-maladies-affections/mood-anxiety-disorders-2016-troubles-anxieuxhumeur/alt/mood-anxiety-disorders-2016-troubles-anxieux-humeur-eng.pdf.
- 21. Pooler A, Beech R. Examining the relationship between anxiety and depression and exacerbations of COPD which result in hospital admission: A systematic review. *Int J COPD*. 2014;9:315-330. doi:10.2147/COPD.S53255
- 22. Battalio SL, Glette M, Alschuler KN, Jensen MP. Anxiety, depression, and function in individuals with chronic physical conditions: A longitudinal analysis. *Rehabil Psychol.* 2018;63(4):532-541. doi:10.1037/rep0000231
- 23. Walsh R. Lifestyle and mental health. *Am Psychol*. 2011;66(7):579-592. doi:10.1037/a0021769
- 24. Ghanei M, Ahmady K, Babaei M, et al. Knowledge of healthy lifestyle in Iran: a systematic review. *Electron physician*. 2016;8(3):2199-2207. doi:10.19082/2199
- 25. Dysinger WS. Lifestyle medicine competencies for primary care physicians. *Virtual Mentor*. 2013;15(4):306-310. doi:10.1001/virtualmentor.2013.15.4.medu1-1304
- 26. Lianov L, Johnson M. Lifestyle Medicine. 2020;95628.
- 27. Kushner RF, Sorensen KW. Lifestyle medicine: The future of chronic disease management. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. 2013;20(5):389-395. doi:10.1097/01.med.0000433056.76699.5d
- 28. Egger GJ, Binns AF, Rossner SR. The emergence of "lifestyle medicine" As a structured approach for management of chronic disease. *Med J Aust*. 2009;190(3):143-145. doi:10.5694/j.1326-5377.2009.tb02317.x
- 29. Canadian Institute for Health Information. *How Canada Compares Results From The Commonwealth Fund's 2016 International Health Policy Survey of Adults in 11 Countries Accessible Report.*; 2016. https://www.cihi.ca/sites/default/files/document/text-alternative-version-2016-cmwf-en-web.pdf.
- 30. Wierenga D, Engbers LH, Van Empelen P, Duijts S, Hildebrandt VH, Van Mechelen W. What is actually measured in process evaluations for worksite health promotion programs: A systematic review. *BMC Public Health*. 2013;13(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2458-13-1190
- 31. Glasgow RE, Klesges LM, Dzewaltowski DA, Bull SS, Estabrooks P. The Future of Health Behavior Change Research: What Is Needed to Improve Translation of Research into Health Promotion Practice? *Ann Behav Med.* 2004;27(1):3-12. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm2701\_2
- 32. Geense WW, Glind IM Van De, Visscher TLS, Achterberg T Van. Barriers, facilitators and attitudes influencing health promotion activities in general practice : an explorative pilot study. *BMC Fam Pract*. 2013;14(1):1. doi:10.1186/1471-2296-14-20
- 33. Hagger MS, Weed M. DEBATE: Do interventions based on behavioral theory work in the real world? *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2019;16(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12966-019-0795-4
- 34. Wändell PE, De Waard AKM, Holzmann MJ, et al. Barriers and facilitators among health professionals in primary care to prevention of cardiometabolic diseases: A systematic review. *Fam Pract*. 2018;35(4):383-398. doi:10.1093/fampra/cmx137
- 35. Alvarez E, Qutob M, Mbuagbaw L, et al. Feasibility and implementation of a healthy lifestyles program in a community setting in Ontario, Canada: Protocol for a pragmatic mixed methods pilot study. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(10). doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2019-031298
- 36. Moug SJ, Bryce A, Mutrie N, Anderson AS. Lifestyle interventions are feasible in patients with colorectal cancer with potential short-term health benefits: a systematic review. *Int J Colorectal Dis.* 2017;32(6):765-775. doi:10.1007/s00384-017-2797-5
- 37. Glasgow RE, McKay HG, Piette JD, Reynolds KD. The RE-AIM framework for evaluating interventions: What can it tell us about approaches to chronic illness management? *Patient Educ Couns*. 2001;44(2):119-127. doi:10.1016/S0738-3991(00)00186-5
- 38. Schulz KF, Altman DG, Moher D. CONSORT 2010 Statement: Updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. *BMJ*. 2010;340(7748):698-702. doi:10.1136/bmj.c332
- Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M, Oxman AD, et al. A pragmatic-explanatory continuum indicator summary (PRECIS): a tool to help trial designers. *J Clin Epidemiol*. 2009;62(5):464-475. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2008.12.011
- 40. Loudon K, Treweek S, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Thorpe KE, Zwarenstein M. The PRECIS-2 tool: Designing trials that are fit for purpose. *BMJ*. 2015;350:h2147. doi:10.1136/bmj.h2147
- 41. Loudon K, Zwarenstein M, Sullivan F, Donnan P, Treweek S. Making clinical trials more relevant: improving and validating the PRECIS tool for matching trial design decisions to trial purpose. *Trials*. 2013;14:1-9. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-14-115
- 42. Lancaster GA, Dodd S, Williamson PR. Design and analysis of pilot studies: recommendations for good practice. *J Eval Clin Pract*. 2004;10(2):307-312. doi:10.1111/j..2002.384.doc.x
- Borek AJ, Abraham C. How do Small Groups Promote Behaviour Change? An Integrative Conceptual Review of Explanatory Mechanisms. *Appl Psychol Heal Well-Being*. 2018;10(1):30-61. doi:10.1111/aphw.12120
- 44. Glasgow R, Vogt T, Boles S. Evaluating the public health impact of health promotion interventions: the RE-AIM framework. *Am J Public Health*. 1999;89(9):1322-1327. doi:10.2105/AJPH.89.9.1322
- 45. Harden SM, Gaglio B, Shoup JA, et al. Fidelity to and comparative results across behavioral interventions evaluated through the RE-AIM framework: A systematic review. *Syst Rev.* 2015;4(1). doi:10.1186/s13643-015-0141-0

- Glasgow RE, Harden SM, Gaglio B, et al. RE-AIM planning and evaluation framework: Adapting to new science and practice with a 20-year review. *Front Public Heal*. 2019;7(MAR). doi:10.3389/fpubh.2019.00064
- 47. Harden SM, Gaglio B, Shoup JA, et al. Fidelity to and comparative results across behavioral interventions evaluated through the RE-AIM framework: A systematic review. *Syst Rev.* 2015;4(1). doi:10.1186/s13643-015-0141-0
- 48. Kwan BM, McGinnes HL, Ory MG, Estabrooks PA, Waxmonsky JA, Glasgow RE. RE-AIM in the Real World: Use of the RE-AIM Framework for Program Planning and Evaluation in Clinical and Community Settings. *Front Public Heal*. 2019;7(November):1-10. doi:10.3389/fpubh.2019.00345
- 49. Klesges L, Estabrooks P, Dzewaltowski D, Bull S, Glasgow R. Beginning with the application in mind: Designing and planning health behavior change interventions to enhance dissemination Annals of Behavioral Medicine April 2005, Volume 29, Issue 2, pp 66-75. *Ann Behav Med.* 2005;29(2):66-75. doi:10.1207/s15324796abm2902s\_10
- 50. Luszczynska A. It's time for effectiveness-implementation hybrid research on behaviour change. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2020;14(1):188-192. doi:10.1080/17437199.2019.1707105
- 51. Public Health Ontario. Self-reporting chronic health problems: PHU/LHIN (2015 to 2016). Public Health Ontario. https://www.publichealthontario.ca/en/data-and-analysis/chronic-disease/chronic-health-problems. Published 2016. Accessed March 3, 2020.
- 52. Canada S. Hamilton, CDR [Census Division], Ontario and Ontario [Province] (Table). Census Profile. 2016 Census. Statistics Canada Catalogue No. 98-316-X2016001. Ottawa; 2016. https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/prof/index.cfm?Lang=E (accessed April 19, 2021).%0A%0A. Accessed March 3, 2019.
- 53. Urach S, Gaasterland CMW, Posch M, et al. Statistical analysis of Goal Attainment Scaling endpoints in randomised trials. *Stat Methods Med Res.* 2019;28(6):1893-1910. doi:10.1177/0962280218777896
- 54. Warkentin LM, Majumdar SR, Johnson JA, et al. Weight loss required by the severely obese to achieve clinically important differences in health-related quality of life: Two-year prospective cohort study. *BMC Med.* 2014;12(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/s12916-014-0175-5
- 55. Baddeley-White DS, McGowan CL, Howden R, Gordon BD, Kyberd P, Swaine IL. Blood pressure lowering effects of a novel isometric exercise device following a 4week isometric handgrip intervention. *Open Access J Sport Med.* 2019;Volume 10:89-98. doi:10.2147/oajsm.s193008
- 56. Martin A, Rief W, Klaiberg A, Braehler E. Validity of the Brief Patient Health Questionnaire Mood Scale (PHQ-9) in the general population. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. 2006;28(1):71-77. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2005.07.003
- 57. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JBW. The PHQ-9: Validity of a brief depression severity measure. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2001;16(9):606-613. doi:10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- 58. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW. Validation and utility of a self-report version of PRIME-MD. *Prim Care Companion J Clin Psychiatry*. 2000;2(1):31.
- 59. Gilbody S, Richards D, Brealey S, Hewitt C. Screening for depression in medical settings with the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ): A diagnostic meta-analysis. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2007;22(11):1596-1602. doi:10.1007/s11606-007-0333-y

- 60. Löwe B, Unützer J, Callahan CM, Perkins AJ, Kroenke K. Monitoring depression treatment outcomes with the Patient Health Questionnaire-9. *Med Care*. 2004;42(12):1194-1201. doi:10.1097/00005650-200412000-00006
- 61. Kroenke K, Wu J, Yu Z, et al. The Patient Health Questionnaire Anxiety and Depression Scale (PHQ-ADS): Initial Validation in Three Clinical Trials HHS Public Access Author manuscript. *Psychosom Med.* 2016;78(6):716-727. doi:10.1097/PSY.000000000000222
- 62. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JBW, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* 2006;166(10):1092-1097. doi:10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- 63. Gagnon C, Bélanger L, Ivers H, Morin CM. Validation of the insomnia severity index in primary care. *J Am Board Fam Med*. 2013;26(6):701-710. doi:10.3122/jabfm.2013.06.130064
- 64. Bastien CH, Vallières A, Morin CM. Validation of the insomnia severity index as an outcome measure for insomnia research. *Sleep Med.* 2001;2(4):297-307. doi:10.1016/S1389-9457(00)00065-4
- 65. Morin CM, Belleville G, Bélanger L, Ivers H. The insomnia severity index: Psychometric indicators to detect insomnia cases and evaluate treatment response. *Sleep*. 2011;34(5):601-608. doi:10.1093/sleep/34.5.601
- 66. Yang M, Morin CM, Schaefer K, Wallenstein G V. Interpreting score differences in the Insomnia Severity Index: Using health-related outcomes to define the minimally important difference. *Curr Med Res Opin*. 2009;25(10):2487-2494. doi:10.1185/03007990903167415
- 67. Vitello M V, McCurry SM, Shortreed SM, et al. Short-term Improvement in Insomnia Symptoms Predicts Lo. 2014;155(8):1547-1554. doi:10.1188/08.ONF.909-915.Effects
- 68. Lynch DJ, McGrady A, Alvarez E, Forman J. Recent life changes and medical utilization in an academic family practice. *J Nerv Ment Dis.* 2005;193(9):633-655. doi:10.1097/01.nmd.0000177778.27069.77
- 69. Noone PA. The Holmes-Rahe stress inventory. *Occup Med (Chic Ill)*. 2017;67(7):581-582. doi:10.1093/occmed/kqx099
- 70. Harmon DK, Masuda M, Holmes TH. The social readjustment rating scale: A crosscultural study of Western Europeans and Americans. *J Psychosom Res.* 1970;14(4):391-400. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(70)90007-3
- 71. Komaroff AL, Masuda M, Holmes TH. The social readjustment rating scale: A comparative study of Negro, Mexican and white Americans. *J Psychosom Res.* 1968;12(2):121-128. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(68)90018-4
- 72. Woon TH, Masuda M, Wagner NN, Holmes TH. The social readjustment rating scale: A cross-cultural study of Malaysians and Americans. *J Cross Cult Psychol*. 1971;2(4):373-386. doi:10.1177/002202217100200407
- 73. Rahe RH. Multi-cultural correlations of life change scaling: America, Japan, Denmark and Sweden. *J Psychosom Res.* 1969;13(2):191-195. doi:10.1016/0022-3999(69)90062-2
- 74. Cohen S. A Global Measure of Perceived Stress Author (s): Sheldon Cohen, Tom Kamarck and Robin Mermelstein Source : Journal of Health and Social Behavior, Vol. 24, No. 4 (Dec., 1983), pp. 385-396. J Health Soc Behav. 2014;24(4):385-396.
- 75. Lee EH. Review of the psychometric evidence of the perceived stress scale. *Asian Nurs Res (Korean Soc Nurs Sci).* 2012;6(4):121-127. doi:10.1016/j.anr.2012.08.004
- 76. Donegan D, Albert T. The 36-Item Short Form.

- 77. Ware JE, Kosinski M. Interpreting SF-36 summary health measures: A response. *Qual Life Res.* 2001;10(5):405-413. doi:10.1023/A:1012588218728
- 78. Maruish M (Ed. . *User's Manual for the SF-36v2 Health Survey*. 3rd ed. Lincoln: RI: Quality metric Inforporated.; 2011.
- 79. Nc L, Rd H, Bhattacharyya T. Orthopaedic Scoring the SF-36 in Orthopaedics : A Brief Guide. *J Bone Jt Surg Am.* 2015:1628-1634. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.0.00030
- Maddigan SL, Feeny DH, Johnson JA. A Comparison of the Health Utilities Indices Mark 2 and Mark 3 in Type 2 Diabetes. *Med Decis Mak*. 2003;23(6):489-501. doi:10.1177/0272989X03258438
- 81. Feeny D, Spritzer K, Hays RD, et al. Agreement about identifying patients who change over time: Cautionary results in cataract and heart failure patients. *Med Decis Mak*. 2012;32(2):273-286. doi:10.1177/0272989X11418671
- 82. Hawkley LC, Cacioppo JT. Loneliness matters: A theoretical and empirical review of consequences and mechanisms. *Ann Behav Med.* 2010;40(2):218-227. doi:10.1007/s12160-010-9210-8
- 83. De Jong-Gierveld J, Van Tilburg T. Manual of the Loneliness Scale. 1999:1-26. http://home.fsw.vu.nl/tg.van.tilburg/manual\_loneliness\_scale\_1999.html.
- 84. Gierveld JDJ. A 6-Item Scale for. 2006:582-598.
- 85. Fok CCT, Henry D. Increasing the Sensitivity of Measures to Change. *Prev Sci.* 2015;16(7):978-986. doi:10.1007/s11121-015-0545-z
- 86. Zuchowski M, Mamode N, Draper H, et al. Experiences of completed and withdrawn unspecified kidney donor candidates in the United Kingdom: An inductive thematic analysis from the BOUnD study. *Br J Health Psychol*. 2021. doi:10.1111/bjhp.12514
- 87. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psychol*. 2006;3(2):77-101. http://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=uqrp20%5Cnhttp://www.tandfonline.com/action/journalInformation?journalCode=uqrp20.
- 88. Epperly T, Bechtel C, Sweeney R, et al. The shared principles of primary care: A multistakeholder initiative to find a common voice. *Fam Med.* 2019;51(2):179-184. doi:10.22454/FamMed.2019.925587
- Walters SJ, Dos Anjos Henriques-Cadby IB, Bortolami O, et al. Recruitment and retention of participants in randomised controlled trials: A review of trials funded and published by the United Kingdom Health Technology Assessment Programme. *BMJ Open*. 2017;7(3):1-10. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015276
- 90. Sully BGO, Julious SA, Nicholl J. A reinvestigation of recruitment to randomised, controlled, multicenter trials: A review of trials funded by two UK funding agencies. *Trials*. 2013;14(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/1745-6215-14-166
- 91. Estabrooks P, You W, Hedrick V, Reinholt M, Dohm E, Zoellner J. A pragmatic examination of active and passive recruitment methods to improve the reach of community lifestyle programs: The Talking Health Trial. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act*. 2017;14(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12966-017-0462-6
- 92. König D, Hörmann J, Predel HG, Berg A. A 12-Month Lifestyle Intervention Program Improves Body Composition and Reduces the Prevalence of Prediabetes in Obese Patients. *Obes Facts*. 2018;11(5):393-399. doi:10.1159/000492604
- 93. Coulter A, Entwistle VA, Eccles A, Ryan S, Shepperd S, Perera R. Personalised care planning for adults with chronic or long-term health conditions. *Cochrane Database Syst*

*Rev.* 2015;(5). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD010523

- 94. Pagoto SL, Schneider KL, Oleski JL, Luciani JM, Bodenlos JS, Whited MC. Male inclusion in randomized controlled trials of lifestyle weight loss interventions. *Obesity*. 2012;20(6):1234-1239. doi:10.1038/oby.2011.140
- 95. Maher CA, Lewis LK, Ferrar K, Marshall S, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Vandelanotte C. Are health behavior change interventions that use online social networks effective? A systematic review. *J Med Internet Res.* 2014;16(2):1-13. doi:10.2196/jmir.2952
- 96. Viera AJ, Thorpe JM, Garrett JM. Effects of sex, age, and visits on receipt of preventive healthcare services: A secondary analysis of national data. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2006;6:1-8. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-6-15
- 97. Wang Y, Hunt K, Nazareth I, Freemantle N, Petersen I. Do men consult less than women? An analysis of routinely collected UK general practice data. *BMJ Open*. 2013;3(8):1-7. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003320
- 98. Hammond WP, Matthews D, Mohottige D, Agyemang A, Corbie-Smith G. Masculinity, medical mistrust, and preventive health services delays among community-dwelling african-american men. J Gen Intern Med. 2010;25(12):1300-1308. doi:10.1007/s11606-010-1481-z
- 99. Rongen A, Robroek SJW, Van Lenthe FJ, Burdorf A. Workplace health promotion: A meta-analysis of effectiveness. *Am J Prev Med*. 2013;44(4):406-415. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2012.12.007
- 100. Yousaf O, Grunfeld EA, Hunter MS. A systematic review of the factors associated with delays in medical and psychological help-seeking among men. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2015;9(2):264-276. doi:10.1080/17437199.2013.840954
- 101. Thiwanka Wijeratne D, Lajkosz K, Brogly SB, et al. Increasing Incidence and Prevalence of World Health Organization Groups 1 to 4 Pulmonary Hypertension: A Population-Based Cohort Study in Ontario, Canada. *Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes*. 2018;11(2):1-13. doi:10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.117.003973
- 102. Ryan J, Lopian L, Le B, et al. It's not raining men: A mixed-methods study investigating methods of improving male recruitment to health behaviour research. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7087-4
- 103. Crane MM, Seburg EM, Levy RL, Jeffery RW, Sherwood NE. Using targeting to recruit men and women of color into a behavioral weight loss trial. *Trials*. 2020;21(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/s13063-020-04500-1
- 104. Winters-Miner LA, Bolding PS, Hilbe JM, et al. *Practical Predictive Analytics and Decisioning Systems for Medicine: Informatics Accuracy and Cost-Effectiveness for Healthcare Administration and Delivery Including Medical Research.*; 2014. doi:10.1016/C2012-0-02184-9
- 105. Katula JA, Kritchevsky SB, Guralnik JM, et al. Lifestyle interventions and independence for elders pilot study: Recruitment and baseline characteristics. *J Am Geriatr Soc*. 2007;55(5):674-683. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2007.01136.x
- 106. Buchbinder R, Hall S, Youd JM. Functional health literacy of patients with rheumatoid arthritis attending a community-based rheumatology practice. *J Rheumatol.* 2006;33(5):879-886.
- 107. Van Der Heide I, Wang J, Droomers M, Spreeuwenberg P, Rademakers J, Uiters E. The relationship between health, education, and health literacy: Results from the dutch adult literacy and life skills survey. *J Health Commun.* 2013;18(SUPPL. 1):172-184.

doi:10.1080/10810730.2013.825668

- 108. Dilmaghani M. The causal effects of education on health over the life course: evidence from Canada. *Public Health*. 2020;186:170-177. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.060
- 109. Wang V, Maciejewski ML, Coffman CJ, et al. Impacts of Geographic Distance on Peritoneal Dialysis Utilization: Refining Models of Treatment Selection. *Health Serv Res.* 2017;52(1):35-55. doi:10.1111/1475-6773.12489
- 110. Gilliland JA, Shah TI, Clark A, Sibbald S, Seabrook JA. A geospatial approach to understanding inequalities in accessibility to primary care among vulnerable populations. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(1). doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0210113
- 111. Shah TI, Bell S, Wilson K. Spatial accessibility to health care services: Identifying underserviced neighbourhoods in Canadian urban areas. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(12):1-22. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0168208
- 112. Darts. Darts Transit Hamilton. https://www.dartstransit.com/. Published 2021. Accessed March 22, 2021.
- 113. Feely A, Lix LM, Reimer K. Estimating multimorbidity prevalence with the Canadian Chronic Disease Surveillance System. *Heal Promot Chronic Dis Prev Canada*. 2017;37(7):215-222. doi:10.24095/hpcdp.37.7.02
- 114. Ravenscroft EF. Navigating the health care system: insights from consumers with multimorbidity. *J Nurs Healthc Chronic Illn*. 2010;2(3):215-224. doi:10.1111/j.1752-9824.2010.01063.x
- 115. van der Aa MJ, van den Broeke JR, Stronks K, Plochg T. Patients with Multimorbidity and Their Experiences with the Healthcare Process: A Scoping Review. *J Comorbidity*. 2017;7(1):11-21. doi:10.15256/joc.2017.7.97
- 116. Boyd; Cynthia, Fortin M. Future of multimorbidity research: How should understanding of multimorbidity inform health system design? *Public Health Rev.* 2010;32(2):451-474. doi:10.1007/BF03391611
- 117. Mondor L, Maxwell CJ, Hogan DB, et al. Multimorbidity and healthcare utilization among home care clients with dementia in Ontario, Canada: A retrospective analysis of a population-based cohort. *PLoS Med.* 2017;14(3):1-17. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1002249
- 118. Monterde D, Vela E, Clèries M, Garcia-Eroles L, Roca J, Pérez-Sust P. Multimorbidity as a predictor of health service utilization in primary care: A registry-based study of the Catalan population. *BMC Fam Pract*. 2020;21(1):1-9. doi:10.1186/s12875-020-01104-1
- 119. Koné Pefoyo AJ, Bronskill SE, Gruneir A, et al. The increasing burden and complexity of multimorbidity. *BMC Public Health*. 2015;15(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12889-015-1733-2
- 120. Guthrie B, Payne K, Alderson P, McMurdo MET, Mercer SW. Adapting clinical guidelines to take account of multimorbidity. *BMJ*. 2012;345(7878). doi:10.1136/bmj.e6341
- 121. Tapsell LC, Lonergan M, Martin A, et al. Interdisciplinary lifestyle intervention for weight management in a community population (HealthTrack study): Study design and baseline sample characteristics. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2015;45:394-403. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2015.10.008
- 122. Kardakis T, Weinehall L, Jerdé L, Nyströ ME, Johansson H. Lifestyle interventions in primary health care: professional and organizational challenges. *Eur J Public Health*. 24(1):79-84. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckt052
- 123. Sartipy U. Loss to Follow-Up. *Ann Thorac Surg.* 2017;103(3):1037. doi:10.1016/j.athoracsur.2016.07.040

- 124. Naidoo N, Nguyen VT, Ravaud P, et al. The research burden of randomized controlled trial participation: A systematic thematic synthesis of qualitative evidence. *BMC Med*. 2020;18(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/s12916-019-1476-5
- 125. Spring B, Sohn MW, Locatelli SM, Hadi S, Kahwati L, Weaver FM. Individual, facility, and program factors affecting retention in a national weight management program. *BMC Public Health*. 2014;14(1):1-11. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-363
- 126. Boyington JEA, Czajkowski S. Enrollment and retention challenges in early-phase intervention development studies: The obesity-related behavioral intervention trials (ORBIT). *Prev Chronic Dis.* 2013;10(3):7-9. doi:10.5888/pcd10.130040
- 127. Liu Y, Pencheon E, Hunter RM, Moncrieff J, Freemantle N. Recruitment and retention strategies in mental health trials – A systematic review. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(8):1-17. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0203127
- 128. Coleman CD, Kiel JR, Mitola AH, Langford JS, Davis KN, Arterburn LM. Effectiveness of a Medifast meal replacement program on weight, body composition and cardiometabolic risk factors in overweight and obese adults: a multicenter systematic retrospective chart review study. *Nutr J*. 2015;14(1):1-15. doi:10.1186/s12937-015-0062-8
- 129. Finley CE, Barlow CE, Greenway FL, Rock CL, Rolls BJ, Blair SN. Retention rates and weight loss in a commercial weight loss program. *Int J Obes*. 2007;31(2):292-298. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0803395
- Gotthelf L, Chen YT, Rajagopalan S, Wu ECT, Doshi I, Addy C. High intensity lifestyle intervention and long-term impact on weight and clinical outcomes. *PLoS One*. 2018;13(4):13-24. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195794
- 131. Battersby M, Harvey P, Mills PD, et al. SA HealthPlus: A controlled trial of a statewide application of a generic model of chronic illness care. *Milbank Q*. 2007;85(1):37-67. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0009.2007.00476.x
- Livia B, Elisa R, Claudia R, et al. Stage of Change and Motivation to a Healthier Lifestyle before and after an Intensive Lifestyle Intervention. *J Obes*. 2016;2016. doi:10.1155/2016/6421265
- 133. Ali MK, Echouffo-Tcheugui J, Williamson DF. How effective were lifestyle interventions in real-world settings that were modeled on the diabetes prevention program? *Health Aff.* 2012;31(1):67-75. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2011.1009
- 134. Williamson DA. Fifty Years of Behavioral/Lifestyle Interventions for Overweight and Obesity: Where Have We Been and Where Are We Going? *Obesity*. 2017;25(11):1867-1875. doi:10.1002/oby.21914
- Diabetes Canada. Diabetes Management Guide. Diabetes Canada. https://guidelines.diabetes.ca/. Published 2018. Accessed April 27, 2021.
- 136. Wharton S, Lau DCW, Vallis M, et al. Obesity in adults: A clinical practice guideline. *CMAJ*. 2020;192(31):E875-E891. doi:10.1503/cmaj.191707
- 137. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. *Multimorbidity: Clinical Assessment and Management.*; 2016.
- 138. Younge JO, Kouwenhoven-Pasmooij TA, Freak-Poli R, Roos-Hesselink JW, Hunink MGM. Randomized study designs for lifestyle interventions: A tutorial. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2015;44(6):2006-2019. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv183
- 139. Whitehead WE. Control Groups Appropriate for Behavioral Interventions. *Gastroenterology*. 2004;126(1):159-163. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2003.10.038

- 140. Gold SM, Enck P, Hasselmann H, et al. Control conditions for randomised trials of behavioural interventions in psychiatry: a decision framework. *The Lancet Psychiatry*. 2017;4(9):725-732. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(17)30153-0
- 141. Cunningham JA, Kypri K, McCambridge J. Exploratory randomized controlled trial evaluating the impact of a waiting list control design. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2013;13(1). doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-150
- 142. Abshire M, Dinglas VD, Cajita MIA, Eakin MN, Needham DM, Himmelfarb CD. Participant retention practices in longitudinal clinical research studies with high retention rates. *BMC Med Res Methodol*. 2017;17(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12874-017-0310-z
- 143. Hassan Y, Head V, Jacob D, Bachmann MO, Diu S, Ford J. Lifestyle interventions for weight loss in adults with severe obesity: a systematic review. *Clin Obes*. 2016;6(6):395-403. doi:10.1111/cob.12161
- 144. Epton T, Currie S, Armitage CJ. Unique Effects of Setting Goals on Behavior Change: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *J Consult Clin Psychol*. 2017;85(12):1182-1198. doi:10.1037/ccp0000260.supp
- 145. Dale H, Brassington L, King K. The impact of healthy lifestyle interventions on mental health and wellbeing: A systematic review. *Ment Heal Rev J*. 2014;19(1):1-25. doi:10.1108/mhrj-05-2013-0016
- 146. Mann F, Bone JK, Lloyd-Evans B, et al. A life less lonely: the state of the art in interventions to reduce loneliness in people with mental health problems. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol*. 2017;52(6):627-638. doi:10.1007/s00127-017-1392-y
- 147. Wekker V, Huvinen E, Van Dammen L, et al. Long-term effects of a preconception lifestyle intervention on cardiometabolic health of overweight and obese women. *Eur J Public Health*. 2019;29(2):308-314. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cky222
- 148. Lv N, Azar KMJ, Rosas LG, Wulfovich S, Xiao L, Ma J. Behavioral lifestyle interventions for moderate and severe obesity: A systematic review. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2017;100:180-193. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.04.022
- 149. Kelly MP, Barker M. Why is changing health-related behaviour so difficult? *Public Health*. 2016;136:109-116. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2016.03.030
- 150. Hayes AM, Feldman G, Laurenceau J-P, Feldman G, Strauss JL, Cardaciotto L. Change is Not Always Linear: The study of Nonlinear and Discontinuous Patterns of Change in Psychotherapy. *Clin Psychol Rev.* 2007;27(6):715-723. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2007.01.008.Change
- 151. Kwasnicka D, Dombrowski SU, White M, Sniehotta F. Theoretical explanations for maintenance of behaviour change: a systematic review of behaviour theories. *Health Psychol Rev.* 2016;10(3):277-296. doi:10.1080/17437199.2016.1151372
- 152. Jensen MD, Ryan DH, Apovian CM, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC/TOS Guideline for the Management of Overweight and Obesity in Adults. *Circulation*. 2014;129(25 suppl 2):S102-S138. doi:10.1161/01.cir.0000437739.71477.ee
- 153. Moyer VA. Screening for and management of obesity in adults: U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommendation statement. *Ann Intern Med.* 2012;157(5):373-378. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-157-5-201209040-00475
- 154. Van Den Akker M, Spigt MG, De Raeve L, et al. The SMILE study: A study of medical information and lifestyles in Eindhoven, the rationale and contents of a large prospective dynamic cohort study. *BMC Public Health*. 2008;8:1-8. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-8-19
- 155. Dineen-Griffin S, Garcia-Cardenas V, Williams K, Benrimoj SI. Helping patients help

themselves: A systematic review of self-management support strategies in primary health care practice. *PLoS One*. 2019;14(8):1-29. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0220116

- 156. Milat A, Lee K, Conte K, et al. Intervention Scalability Assessment Tool: A decision support tool for health policy makers and implementers. *Heal Res Policy Syst.* 2020;18(1):1-17. doi:10.1186/s12961-019-0494-2
- 157. Fixsen DL, Blase KA, Fixsen AAM. Scaling Effective Innovations. *Criminol Public Policy*. 2017;16(2):487-499. doi:10.1111/1745-9133.12288
- Kristensen N, Nymann C, Konradsen H. Implementing research results in clinical practice- the experiences of healthcare professionals. *BMC Health Serv Res.* 2016;16(1):1-10. doi:10.1186/s12913-016-1292-y
- 159. Lenfant C. Shattuck lecture: Clinical research to clinical practice Lost in translation? *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349(9):868-874. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa035507
- 160. Dilling JA, Swensen SJ, Hoover MR, et al. Accelerating the use of best practices: The mayo clinic model of diffusion. *Jt Comm J Qual Patient Saf.* 2013;39(4):167-176. doi:10.1016/s1553-7250(13)39023-0
- 161. Miltenburger C, Borgstrom F. From triple to quadruple aim: care of the patient requires care of the provider. *Ann Fam Med*. 2014;12(6):573-576. doi:10.1370/afm.1713.Center
- 162. Eldridge SM, Chan CL, Campbell MJ, et al. CONSORT 2010 statement: Extension to randomised pilot and feasibility trials. *BMJ*. 2016;355. doi:10.1136/bmj.i5239

# Appendix A: CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a pilot or feasibility trial <sup>162</sup>

Section/Topic	It e m N o	Checklist item	Reporte d on page No
Title and abstract			
	1a	Identification as a pilot or feasibility randomised trial in the title	iii
	1b	Structured summary of pilot trial design, methods, results, and conclusions (for specific guidance see CONSORT abstract extension for pilot trials)	iii – iv
Introduction			
Background and objectives	2a	Scientific background and explanation of rationale for future definitive trial, and reasons for randomised pilot trial	1-3
	2b	Specific objectives or research questions for pilot trial	3 - 4
Methods			
Trial design	3a	Description of pilot trial design (such as parallel, factorial) including allocation ratio	5
	3b	Important changes to methods after pilot trial commencement (such as eligibility criteria), with reasons	7-8
Participants	4a	Eligibility criteria for participants	7 -8
	4b	Settings and locations where the data were collected	7
	4c	How participants were identified and consented	8 -9
Interventions	rventions5The interventions for each group with sufficient details to allow replication, including how and when they were actually administered		10 -11
Outcomes	ба	Completely defined prespecified assessments or measurements to address each pilot trial objective specified in 2b, including how and when they were assessed	11-20
	6b	Any changes to pilot trial assessments or measurements after the pilot trial commenced, with reasons	NA
	6c	If applicable, prespecified criteria used to judge whether, or how, to proceed with future definitive trial	NA
Sample size	7a	Rationale for numbers in the pilot trial	8
	7b	When applicable, explanation of any interim analyses and stopping guidelines	NA
Randomisation:			
Sequence	8a	Method used to generate the random allocation sequence	9
generation	8b	Type of randomisation(s); details of any restriction (such as blocking and block size)	9
Allocation concealment mechanism	9	Mechanism used to implement the random allocation sequence (such as sequentially numbered containers), describing any steps taken to conceal the sequence until interventions were assigned	9
Implementation	10	Who generated the random allocation sequence, who enrolled participants, and who assigned participants to interventions	9

Blinding	11 a	If done, who was blinded after assignment to interventions (for example, participants, care providers, those assessing outcomes) and how	
	11 b	If relevant, description of the similarity of interventions	NA
Statistical methods	12	Methods used to address each pilot trial objective whether qualitative or quantitative	
Results			
Participant flow (a diagram is strongly	13 a	For each group, the numbers of participants who were approached and/or assessed for eligibility, randomly assigned, received intended treatment, and were assessed for each objective	23
recommended)	13 b	For each group, losses and exclusions after randomisation, together with reasons	24
Recruitment	14 a	Dates defining the periods of recruitment and follow-up	24
	14 b	Why the pilot trial ended or was stopped	NA
Baseline data	15	A table showing baseline demographic and clinical characteristics for each group	26-27, 28-29,
Numbers analysed	16	For each objective, number of participants (denominator) included in each analysis. If relevant, these numbers should be by randomised group	
Outcomes and estimation	17	For each objective, results including expressions of uncertainty (such as 95% confidence interval) for any estimates. If relevant, these results should be by randomised group28-31	
Ancillary analyses	18	Results of any other analyses performed that could be used to inform the future NA definitive trial	
Harms	19	All-important harms or unintended effects in each group (for specific guidance see CONSORT for harms)	25
	19 a	If relevant, other important unintended consequences	NA
Discussion			
Limitations	20	Pilot trial limitations, addressing sources of potential bias and remaining uncertainty about feasibility	57
Generalisability	21	Generalisability (applicability) of pilot trial methods and findings to future definitive trial and other studies	56-57
Interpretation	22	Interpretation consistent with pilot trial objectives and findings, balancing potential benefits and harms, and considering other relevant evidence	42-59
	22 a	Implications for progression from pilot to future definitive trial, including any proposed amendments	42-59
Other information	1		
Registration	23	Registration number for pilot trial and name of trial registry	22
Protocol	24	Where the pilot trial protocol can be accessed, if available	22
Funding	25	Sources of funding and other support (such as supply of drugs), role of funders	NA
	26	Ethical approval or approval by research review committee, confirmed with reference number	22

# Appendix B: Delivered programming of group psycho-education and wellness sessions.

Session	Programming Topic
1	Introduction to program
2	Identifying health goals
3	Healthy mindsets and stress management
4	Creating a life compass
5	Building resources
6	Active lifestyles
7	Healthy nutrition
8	Identifying and overcoming challenges
9	Finding motivation
10	Problem-solving barriers
11	Problem-solving barriers
12	Problem-solving barriers
13	Brainstorming group session
14	Brainstorming group session
15	Brainstorming group session
16	Increasing self-efficacy
17	Problem-solving barriers
18	Brainstorming group session
19	Mindful eating & small group work
20	Problem-solving barriers
21	Problem-solving barriers
22	Problem-solving barriers
23	Problem-solving barriers
	Willpower & ties to vision, mission, and
24	values
25	Self-regulation
26	Resilience
27	Planning for winter
28	Willpower
29	Chronic pain
30	Open discussion
31	Open discussion
32	Intentions
33	Mindfulness
34	Back to basics

35	Barriers
36	The self within us
37	Review
38	Review
39	Review
40	Review
41	Review
42	Review
43	Graduation Ceremony

# Appendix C. Timeline of program and evaluation (data collection) components.

Timeline	Intervention + Usual care	Comparator + Usual care	
Randomizati	Randomization		
Baseline	ACD	BD	
3- Month	ACD	BD	
6-Month	A C D E G	BDEG	
9- Month	ACDHI	BDHI	
12-Month	A C D E F G	BDEFG	

A	Monthly visits with healthcare team (Primary care physician with CBT training, Dietician, and MSK specialist) to develop goals and action plans. Community support linkages provided.	
B	3-month visit with a research assistant to develop goals and action plans. Community support linkages provided.	
C	Weekly group psychosocial educational sessions; attendance optional.	
D	3-month collection of health outcomes, and cost and medical utilization log.	
E	Semi-structured interviews with interventionists (N=4).	
F	Semi-structured interview with participants from the intervention group $(N=9)$ and comparator group $(N=7)$ .	
G	Semi-structured interview with participant's healthcare providers (N=3).	
Н	Focus Group with participant family members (comparator group N=2, intervention group N=1).	
1	Participant feedback survey from intervention group ( $N\!=\!9)$ and comparator group ( $N\!=\!7).$	
$\bigcirc$	= program components = Data collection/ evaluation components	

### Appendix D: Qualitative Data Collection Tools

#### 1. Participant semi-structured exit interview guide (30-60 minutes), 12months

Participant ID		Date
Location		Researcher
Start time	End time	Date of informed consent
OK to record: Y / N		

Thank you for agreeing to be part of this study. Do you have any questions before we start?

1) What do you think of the program overall? Prompts: helpful/not helpful, too busy/not enough contact

2) Have you been able to make any sustainable lifestyle changes? If so, do you feel the program has contributed to you achieving this/these? If no, what has stood in your way of making these changes?

3) What is the most important/interesting thing you have learned through the program?

4) What has/have been the most useful component(s)/part(s) of the program? Prompt: meeting with the physician, dietician or physical therapist, education sessions, support group meetings, identifying health goals, developing an action plan...

5) What are some other useful aspects of the program? Prompt: admin support, reminders

6) What was not useful? Could this aspect of the program be changed to make it more useful? If yes, how? Should t	this
part of the program be taken out? If so, why?	

7) What is not currently part of the program that would be useful to include, if possible?

8) Is the length of the program appropriate for meeting your/the program's objectives? Should the program be shorter, longer or stay the same (1 year). Why? Are there components of the program that should be extended? Prompt: support groups, education sessions, check-ins every few months?

9) What do you think the role of the family is with regards to leading a healthy lifestyle? Prompts: verbal support, joining in, community-building, none.

10) What do you think the role of the community is with regards to leading a healthy lifestyle? Prompts: providing safe places to exercise, healthy public policies, community support groups, activities, none

11) Have you/Has the program been able to make an impact on anyone else whom you know? If yes, how so? Prompts: Family, friends, co-workers, policymakers

12) Is there anything that has not been covered, which you would like addressed?

### 2. Staff semi-structured interview guide (30-60 minutes), 6 and 12 months

Participant ID		Date
Location		Researcher
Start time	End time	Date of informed co
OK to record: Y / N		

Date	
Researcher	
Date of informed consent	

Thank you for agreeing to be part of this study. Do you have any questions before we start?

1) What is your role in the Healthy Lifestyles Program? How long have you been working in the Program? Has your role changed throughout your time in the Program? If so, how?

2) What aspects of the Program are you involved in? Prompts: education sessions as developer or support

3) What aspects of the Program work well? Prompts: components of the program, time spent at work, administrative support

4) What aspects of the Program do not work well? Could these aspects be improved? If so, how?

5) What is not currently part of the Healthy Lifestyles Program that would be useful to include, if possible?

6) What supports/resources would you need to improve your work within the Program?

7) Do you feel aligned with the vision, mission and values of the Healthy Lifestyles Program? If so, how? If not, what would need to change to make these more relevant to you?

<u>Only for the 12 month interview</u> - 8) Is the length of the program appropriate for meeting your/the Program's objectives? Should the program be shorter, longer or stay the same (1 year). Why? Are there components of the Program that should be extended? Prompt: support groups, education sessions, check-ins every few months?

8/9) Is there anything that has not been covered, which you would like addressed?

### 3. Healthcare providers semi-structure interview guide (15-45 minutes), 6 and 12 months

Participant ID		Date
Location		Researcher
Start time	End time	Date of informed consent
OK to record: Y / N		

Thank you for agreeing to be part of this study. Do you have any questions before we start?

1) What is your role as a healthcare provider? Prompts: Family physician, dietician

2) How did you hear about the healthy lifestyles program? How have you been involved with the healthy lifestyles program? What aspects of the program are you involved in? Prompts: have patients/family members in the program

3) What is your understanding of the healthy lifestyles program? MIP and/or LIP Prompts: What does the program do or what is its purpose?

4) What is your current perception of the program? Prompts: it works well for my patient, it has not made a difference, my patient is disappointed

5) How has your perception of the program changed over time?

6) Have you communicated with the staff of the program? If so, in what capacities?

7) From your understanding, what aspects of the program seem to work well?

8) From your understanding, what aspects of the program do not work well? Could these aspects be improved? If so, do you have any suggestions?

9) What is not currently part of the program that would be useful to include, if possible?

10) What supports/resources could the program help you with, if any, for your practice?

Only for the 12 month interview - 11) is the length of the program appropriate for meeting your patient's objectives? Should the program be shorter, longer or stay the same (1 year). Why? Are there components of the program that should be extended? Prompt: support groups, education sessions, check-ins every few months?

11/12) Is there anything that has not been covered, which you would like addressed?

#### 4. Families focus group guide, 9 months

Date and time Researcher(s) and role(s)	Location
Attendees(s)	

Make sure to have room set-up, have recorder(s) and other supplies (e.g., snacks, consent forms), make nametags - for people and on table.

Thank you for taking the time to meet for this focus group. My name is \_\_\_\_\_\_\_\_ (present rest of research team in attendance). I will go over some information first and then we will get started. The purpose of this session is to gather evidence to help improve the healthy lifestyles program and the way the program is provided and to understand the roles of families on changing health behaviours. Any information gathered here will not be attributed to any individual speaker. In other words, your name will not be presented with specific comments. However, there is a chance that you or others could be recognized by the things you say. Every attempt will be made to keep the information anonymous. Also, these sessions follow the values of the healthy lifestyles program: Supportive, evidence-based, responsive, respectful, positive. Please attempt to have everyone contribute in a respectful manner and keep the information presented here confidential. In other words, please do not share this information with people not in this session. If you think of something relevant after the session, you can send it to me or we can meet afterwards. I will be recording the session with a digital recorder, and I, as well as other research members, will be taking notes. Please make sure you have a signed consent form. [Go over forms, ask if there are any questions, and gather forms if do not have already.]

1) Please go around and introduce yourselves and describe your role with regards to the person in the Healthy Lifestyles Program. Prompt: husband, wife, partner, child

2) How did you hear about the healthy lifestyles program?

3) How did you react when your family member told you s/he was going to be part of this program? Why? Prompts: Supportive/not supportive

4) Have you noticed any changes in your family member? Prompts: happier, more/less focused, around less, more stressed

5) What do you think the role of the family/friends is with regards to leading a healthy lifestyle? Prompts: verbal support, joining in, community-building, none

6) What challenges do you see in leading a healthy lifestyle from the perspective of being a family member? In other words, what makes it difficult to support others in leading a healthy lifestyle? Prompts: do not want to change own routines focused on health, not supportive, don't feel the other person needs to change,

7) Do you see any ways to overcome these challenges?

9) Is there anything that has not been covered, which you would like addressed?